# **UNIVERSITY** OF BIRMINGHAM University of Birmingham Research at Birmingham

## The method controls the story - Sampling method impacts on the detection of pore-water nitrogen concentrations in streambeds

Comer-Warner, Sophie; Knapp, Julia L.A.; Blaen, Phillip; Klaar, Megan; Shelley, Felicity; Zarnetske, Jay; Lee-Cullin, Joseph; Folegot, Silvia; Kurz, Marie; Lewandowski, Jorg; Harvey, Judson; Ward, Adam; Mendoza-Lera, Clara; Ullah, Sami; Datry, Thibault; Kettridge, Nicholas; Gooddy, Daren: Drummond, Jennifer: Martí, Eugènia: Milner, Alexander

DOI:

10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136075

License: Creative Commons: Attribution (CC BY)

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Citation for published version (Harvard):

Comer-Warner, S, Knapp, JLA, Blaen, P, Klaar, M, Shelley, F, Zarnetske, J, Lee-Cullin, J, Folegot, S, Kurz, M, Lewandowski, J, Harvey, J, Ward, A, Mendoza-Lera, C, Ullah, S, Datry, T, Kettridge, N, Gooddy, D, Drummond, J, Martí, E, Milner, A, Hannah, D & Krause, S 2020, 'The method controls the story - Sampling method impacts on the detection of pore-water nitrogen concentrations in streambeds', Science of the Total Environment, vol. 709, 136075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136075

Link to publication on Research at Birmingham portal

#### **General rights**

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

•Users may freely distribute the URL that is used to identify this publication.

•Users may download and/or print one copy of the publication from the University of Birmingham research portal for the purpose of private study or non-commercial research.

•User may use extracts from the document in line with the concept of 'fair dealing' under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (?) •Users may not further distribute the material nor use it for the purposes of commercial gain.

Where a licence is displayed above, please note the terms and conditions of the licence govern your use of this document.

When citing, please reference the published version.

Take down policy While the University of Birmingham exercises care and attention in making items available there are rare occasions when an item has been uploaded in error or has been deemed to be commercially or otherwise sensitive.

If you believe that this is the case for this document, please contact UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk providing details and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### Science of the Total Environment



#### journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review

### The method controls the story - Sampling method impacts on the detection of pore-water nitrogen concentrations in streambeds



Sophie Comer-Warner<sup>a,\*</sup>, Julia L.A. Knapp<sup>b,1</sup>, Phillip Blaen<sup>a</sup>, Megan Klaar<sup>c</sup>, Felicity Shelley<sup>d</sup>, Jay Zarnetske<sup>e</sup>, Joseph Lee-Cullin<sup>e</sup>, Silvia Folegot <sup>a,2</sup>, Marie Kurz <sup>f,g</sup>, Jorg Lewandowski<sup>h</sup>, Judson Harvey<sup>i</sup>, Adam Ward<sup>j</sup>, Clara Mendoza-Lera <sup>k,3</sup>, Sami Ullah<sup>a</sup>, Thibault Datry<sup>k</sup>, Nicholas Kettridge<sup>a</sup>, Daren Gooddy<sup>1</sup>, Jennifer Drummond<sup>m,4</sup>, Eugènia Martí<sup>m</sup>, Alexander Milner<sup>a</sup>, David Hannah<sup>a</sup>, Stefan Krause<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Edgbaston, Birmingham B15 2TT, UK

<sup>c</sup> School of Geography and Water, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

<sup>d</sup> School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Queen Mary University of London, Mile End Road, London E1 4NS, UK

e Department of Earth and Environmental Sciences, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, USA

<sup>f</sup> Department of Hydrogeology, Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research-UFZ, Leipzig, Germany

<sup>g</sup> Patrick Center for Environmental Research, The Academy of Natural Sciences of Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

h Leibniz-Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Department of Ecohydrology, Müggelseedamm 310, D-12587 Berlin, Germany

<sup>i</sup> U.S. Geological Survey, Earth System Processes Division, Reston, VA, USA

<sup>j</sup> School of Public and Environmental Affairs, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN, USA

<sup>k</sup> IRSTEA, UR MALY, Centre de Lyon, 5 rue de la Doua BP 32108, 69616 Villeurbanne Cedex, France

<sup>1</sup> British Geological Survey, Maclean Building, Wallingford, Oxfordshire OX10 8BB, UK

<sup>m</sup> Integrative Freshwater Ecology Group, Center for Advanced Studies of Blanes (CEAB-CSIC), Blanes, Girona, Spain

#### HIGHLIGHTS

#### GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Many sampling methods exist to sample streambed biogeochemistry
- There is a lack of systematic protocols for sampling methodologies
- · Sampling techniques were reviewed and investigated in a case study
- Porewater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> did not differ significantly between sampling methods but  $\rm NH_4^+ \, did$
- 'Active' versus 'passive' sampling methods may affect results

## Single well Multilevel mini-Miniature drivepoint samplers niezometer DET gel prob

### ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 11 October 2019 Biogeochemical gradients in streambeds are steep and can vary over short distances often making adequate characterisation of sediment biogeochemical processes challenging. This paper provides an overview and comparison

Corresponding author.

- E-mail address: s.comer-warner@bham.ac.uk (S. Comer-Warner).
- Now Department of Environmental Systems Science, ETH Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland.
- Now Faculty of Science and Technology, Free University of Bozen-Bolzano, Universitätsplatz 5 piazza Università, 5 39100, Bozen-Bolzano.
- Now Department of Freshwater Conservation Brandenburg University of Technology BTU Cottbus-Senftenberg Bad Saarow Germany.
- <sup>4</sup> Now School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Birmingham, Edgbaston, Birmingham B15 2TT, UK.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136075 0048-9697/© 2019 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Center for Applied Geoscience, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

Received in revised form 9 December 2019 Accepted 9 December 2019 Available online 19 December 2019

Editor: Damia Barcelo

*Keywords:* Streambed sampling Samplers Nutrients Nitrate Ammonium of streambed pore-water sampling methods, highlighting their capacity to address gaps in our understanding of streambed biogeochemical processes. This work reviews and critiques available pore-water sampling techniques to characterise streambed biogeochemical conditions, including their characteristic spatial and temporal resolutions, and associated advantages and limitations. A field study comparing three commonly-used pore-water sampling techniques (multilevel mini-piezometers, miniature drivepoint samplers and diffusive equilibrium in thinfilm gels) was conducted to assess differences in observed nitrate and ammonium concentration profiles. Porewater nitrate concentrations did not differ significantly between sampling methods (p-value = 0.54) with mean concentrations of 2.53, 4.08 and 4.02 mg  $l^{-1}$  observed with the multilevel mini-piezometers, miniature drivepoint samplers and diffusive equilibrium in thin-film gel samplers, respectively. Pore-water ammonium concentrations, however, were significantly higher in pore-water extracted by multilevel mini-piezometers  $(3.83 \text{ mg l}^{-1})$  and significantly lower where sampled with miniature drivepoint samplers  $(1.05 \text{ mg l}^{-1}, p-1)$ values <0.01). Differences in observed pore-water ammonium concentration profiles between active (suction: multilevel mini-piezometers) and passive (equilibrium; diffusive equilibrium in thin-film gels) samplers were further explored under laboratory conditions. Measured pore-water ammonium concentrations were significantly greater when sampled by diffusive equilibrium in thin-film gels than with multilevel mini-piezometers (all *p*-values  $\leq 0.02$ ).

The findings of this study have critical implications for the interpretation of field-based research on hyporheic zone biogeochemical cycling and highlight the need for more systematic testing of sampling protocols. For the first time, the impact of different active and passive pore-water sampling methods is addressed systematically here, highlighting to what degree the choice of pore-water sampling methods affects research outcomes, with relevance for the interpretation of previously published work as well as future studies.

© 2019 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction							
2.	Litera	rature review: comparison of sampling techniques						
	2.1.	Active s	samplers	6				
		2.1.1.	Single-depth piezometers and single-depth mini-piezometers	6				
		2.1.2.	Multilevel mini-piezometers	7				
		2.1.3.	Miniature drivepoint samplers	7				
	2.2.	Passive	equilibration samplers	8				
		2.2.1.	DET gel probes	8				
3.	Comp	arative s	tudy of sampling methodologies	9				
	3.1.	Method	d comparison experiment	9				
		3.1.1.	In-situ experiment	9				
		3.1.2.	Laboratory experiment	9				
		3.1.3.	Statistical analysis	9				
	3.2.	Results	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	11				
		3.2.1.	Field study	11				
		3.2.2.	Laboratory experiments	11				
	3.3.	Discuss	sion	11				
		3.3.1.	Field study	11				
		3.3.2.	Laboratory experiment	16				
4.	Concl	usions		16				
Decl	aration	n of comp	peting interest	17				
Ackı	nowled	gements		17				
Refe	rences			17				

#### 1. Introduction

Ecohydrological and biogeochemical processes in streambed environments have recently received increasing attention by the hyporheic research community, regulators, policy makers, restoration organisations and utility companies (Boano et al., 2014; Harvey and Gooseff, 2015; Krause et al., 2011a; Krause et al., 2014). This is due in part to the observation of 'hotspots' and 'hot moments' of biogeochemical reactivity in the hyporheic zone (HZ), where surface water and groundwater mix (Krause et al., 2011a; Krause et al., 2017; Lautz and Fanelli, 2008; McClain et al., 2003; Ward, 2016). 'Hotspots' are zones of increased biogeochemical reactivity whereas 'hot moments' are temporal periods of increased biogeochemical reactivity (McClain et al., 2003). These functions arise because hyporheic zones are characterised by high rates of microbial activity, enhanced nutrient cycling and steep redox gradients relative to surface water, leading to descriptions of HZ's and riparian corridors as the "river's livers" (Boulton et al., 1998; Brunke and Gonser, 1997; Fischer et al., 2005; Harvey et al., 2013; Harvey and Gooseff, 2015; Pinay et al., 2018).

Nitrogen is a globally important element that has been affected by anthropogenic activity leading to large inputs of fertiliser into streams and rivers, which negatively impact ecosystem health (Krause et al., 2009; Pinay et al., 2015, 2018; Smith et al., 1999). The high reactivity of the HZ reduces these negative impacts by enhancing nutrient attenuation (Duff et al., 2008; Trimmer et al., 2012). During this process, however, the greenhouse gas N<sub>2</sub>O may be produced (Lansdown et al., 2012; Lansdown et al., 2015; Quick et al., 2016). Improved understanding of the nitrogen cycle in these environments, therefore, has large implications for improving water quality and climate change mitigation strategies.

The investigation of streambed biogeochemical processes relies upon the extraction and analysis of interstitial pore-waters, often over multiple depths and horizontal patterns and over varying timescales. However, despite the growing volume of interdisciplinary research in the HZ, there remains a lack of systematic protocols for sampling methodologies to facilitate transferability between studies (Krause et al., 2011a; Ward, 2016). Sampling, as well as data interpretation, therefore, can be challenging (Kalbus et al., 2006; Rivett et al., 2008). Current sampling techniques have had varying success with capturing nutrient conditions adequately across the respectively relevant spatial and temporal scales (Boano et al., 2014; Krause et al., 2011a), ranging from short-term (minutes to hours) and small-scale (mm-m) to intermediate-term (up to several years) and medium-scale (up to several km). As a result, selecting a pore-water sampling methodology remains non-standard and likely relies on the experience of the practitioner rather than systematic selection that is well-matched to study objectives.

Several pore-water sampling methodologies have been developed over the last couple of decades to best address application-specific challenges in identifying spatial patterns and temporal dynamics of streambed biogeochemical processes. In consequence, we now have at our disposal a wide range of different pore-water sampling tools and methodologies, with variations of how these methods are deployed and applied in practice. Depending on the application, the chosen methods may be based on permanent (e.g. piezometers) (Lee and Cherry, 1979; Rivett et al., 2008) or temporary (e.g. U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) Minipoint samplers, Minipoints from here onwards) (Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998) installations (Fig. 1). Although some samplers can extend several metres in depth the majority of sampling techniques developed for extracting pore-water samples for biogeochemical analysis predominantly focus on the upper metre of the streambed, often targeting the top 0.2 m at a higher spatial resolution (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998; Krom et al., 1994; Rivett et al., 2008; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006), with the desired vertical scale achievable depending heavily on the technique used, and the volume and rate of pore-water extraction. There are various technical differences between the most commonly used porewater sampling methods, with respect to their spatial and temporal resolution, sampling volume and rates (few millilitres to several litres) (Bou and Rouch, 1967; Conant Jr. et al., 2004; Duff et al., 1998; Hunt and Stanley, 2000; Kalbus et al., 2006; Krause et al., 2013; Palmer et al., 2007; Rivett et al., 2008), maximum sampling depths (mm's to 2 m) and sampling intervals (Bou and Rouch, 1967; Duff et al., 1998; Hunt and Stanley, 2000; Krause et al., 2011a; Krom et al., 1994; Metzger et al., 2016; Palmer et al., 2007; Rivett et al., 2008; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006).

Each sampling technique may be better suited for different sampling conditions. The ease of installation of samplers in soft, sandy or silty sediments results in these streambeds being the easiest to sample (Dahm et al., 2007). Although gravel and clay sediments provide challenges to sampler installation, both single-depth and multilevel minipiezometers can be deployed after hammering or pre-drilling (Baxter et al., 2003; Geist et al., 1998; Grimm et al., 2007). Miniature drivepoint samplers are less suitable for gravel, cobble and clay-rich sediments but have been successfully deployed in coarse sediments (Harvey et al., 2013; Ruhala et al., 2018), and although Diffusive Equilibrium in Thinfilm (DET) gels are less suitable in gravel sediments, a device for their use in armoured streambeds has been developed (Ullah et al., 2012). If river flow is too high then the use of DET gels may not be appropriate and single-depth piezometers made of rigid pipes may become dislodged during storms (Rivett et al., 2008). The temporary nature of miniature drivepoint sampler installation may also limit their use as they may be easily disturbed. Pore-water sampling methods may be active, requiring pore-water samples to be withdrawn through actively applying pressure by suction via a syringe or pumping (e.g. piezometers), or passive through diffusion where solutes are sampled without actual pore-water extraction but rather through the transfer of solutes into the respective sampler (e.g. DET gels or dialysis membranes), which may influence the sampling outcomes.

Streambed sediments contain pores of varying sizes and connectivity, resulting in different pore-water residence times, redox conditions and nutrient concentrations (Briggs et al., 2014, 2015; Harvey, 1993; Harvey et al., 1995). Active samplers tend to preferentially sample from macropores as the zone of sediment sampled ranges from the largest pores to those of the size related to the applied pressure (Harvey and Gorelick, 1995; Harvey, 1993; Harvey et al., 1995). In contrast, passive samplers preferentially sample micropores or matrix pores (Harvey, 1993; Harvey et al., 1995) as they do not rely on extraction of mobile pore-waters. The mechanical difference between active and passive sampling may have a large effect on nutrient concentrations in the obtained samples. Additionally, the sampling duration can vary between sampling methodologies, with active samplers typically representing a snapshot in time, whereas passive equilibrium samplers represent an integration over the time of diffusive equilibrium (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; William Davison et al., 1994; González-Pinzón et al., 2015). If slow pumping is used with an active sampler, however, this can result in an integrated signal over a similar time period to passive techniques. There are, therefore, substantial differences between sampling techniques. How these differences affect resulting nutrient concentrations remains insufficiently understood.

Here, this work aims to ascertain whether there are differences in the results obtained between different pore-water sampling methodologies to enable researchers to easily select the most appropriate technique and to enable cross-study comparisons of biogeochemical processes in streambed environments. There are three main objectives to meeting this aim: 1) to provide technical information on porewater sampling techniques to aid in sampler selection, 2) to investigate the differences in pore-water nutrient profiles and subsequent streambed characterisation obtained from three common pore-water sampling methodologies and 3) to investigate differences in porewater ammonium ( $NH_4^+$ ) profiles from the use of active versus passive samplers.

A literature review of the most common pore-water sampling techniques, discussing their specific advantages and limitations for specific applications is presented. Subsequently, the outcomes of a selection of common pore-water sampling methodologies were compared in a comparative in-situ field study, assessing the ability of multilevel mini-piezometers and Minipoints (as examples of active samplers), and DET gel probes (as examples of passive samplers) (Byrne et al., 2015; Krause et al., 2011a; Ullah et al., 2012) to capture nutrient patterns in streambed pore-waters across a stream reach at varying spatial resolutions. These methods all allow pore-water nutrient concentrations to be determined at multiple depths within the streambed and cover a variety of spatial resolutions and both active and passive sampling. The more common multilevel mini-piezometer setup, with a coarser resolution and a greater depth range than Minipoints and DET gels, was used here to provide comparison with other techniques as they are widely applied in field-based research. Data were, therefore, compared within the top 0.15 m of the streambed, where the sampling zones of all three techniques overlap. A laboratory control experiment comparing NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub> pore-water concentrations gained from multilevel mini-piezometers and DET gels was conducted to determine whether differences observed in the in-situ study were due to sampler differences or field-specific conditions.

#### 2. Literature review: comparison of sampling techniques

Various literature reviews have previously provided comparative analyses of the performance of experimental methods for streambed characterisation; however, these have either predominantly focussed on methodologies to determine hydrological properties of streambeds or on only active or passive sampling (e.g. Davison et al., 2000; González-Pinzón et al., 2015; Kalbus et al., 2006; Landon et al., 2001; Scanlon et al., 2002). This study focusses on the comparison of streambed sampling methodologies developed to analyse vertical profiles of



Fig. 1. Conceptual diagram of main streambed pore-water sampling techniques for analysis of biogeochemical cycling in hyporheic zones, including (from left to right): single well piezometers, diffusive equilibrium in thin-film (DET) gels, (Davison et al., 1991; Harper et al., 1997) miniature drivepoint samplers (example shown: USGS Minipoint sampler; Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998), and multilevel mini-piezometers. Also shown (on the right) are the vertical ranges covered and horizontal instrument footprints of the respective pore-water sampling techniques.

#### Table 1

Comparison of key characteristics, advantages and limitations of most frequently used streambed pore-water sampling methodologies identified during the literature review discussed in text.

Sampling methodology	Active or passive sampling	Sampling technique	Sampling depth	Horizontal instrument footprint	Vertical resolution	Temporal resolution	Deployment time	Advantages	Limitations
Single-depth piezometers	Active	Porewater extraction	Up to several m's	10–50 mm	> 100 mm's	Snapshot during time of sampling	Days to years	- Hydrological information at location of chemical sampling - Large sample volume - Easy installation in sandy and silt sediments - Permanent logger installation	<ul> <li>Must be installed prior to sampling (hours to days before)</li> <li>Substantial hammering or pre-drilling is required in gravel and clay sediments</li> <li>Time to refill after purging can be long, preventing sampling or exposing sample to the atmosphere</li> <li>Large horizontal instrument footprint</li> <li>Low vertical resolution</li> <li>Although hyporheic fluxes can be estimated, this assumes vertical flow is present, which is not always the case</li> <li>The larger piezometer design may alter hyporheic flow</li> </ul>
Multilevel mini-piezometers	Active	Porewater extraction	0.1 to 2 m	30 mm	50-100 mm	Snapshot during time of sampling	Days to years	<ul> <li>Hydrological information obtained in central tube</li> <li>Hyporheic fluxes and reaction rates can be determined at all depths</li> <li>Porewater extraction from discrete, user-defined depths</li> <li>Easy installation in soft sediments</li> <li>Small sampling diameter due to small horizontal instrument footprint</li> <li>Flexible, more storm-resilient piezometer, less prone to vandalism</li> <li>Sampling via a closed loop when syringes are used</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hydrological information gained via hydraulic gradients is not possible to determine in the multilevel sampling tubes, so information is only attainable from the depth of the central piezometer</li> <li>The central piezometer is typically too small for permanent loggers</li> <li>The vertical solute profile may be disrupted if sampling occurs too rapidly</li> <li>Coarse sampling interval</li> <li>Installment a few days prior to sampling is required</li> <li>Installation is difficult in gravel or clay sediments, and may require substantial pre-drilling or hammering</li> <li>Although hyporheic fluxes can be estimated, this assumes vertical flow is present, which is not always the case</li> </ul>
Miniature drivepoint samplers	Active	Porewater extraction	up to 0.4 m	50-100 mm	10–30 mm	Snapshot during time of sampling	Hours to days	<ul> <li>Hydrological information and reaction rates can be determined at all depths</li> <li>Small diameter allows easy and rapid installation with minimal disturbance, allowing use as roaming samplers and to sample unstable sediments</li> <li>Porewater samples can be pre-filtered at the sampler tip or in line during pumping</li> <li>High resolution porewater extraction</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The temporary nature of installation prevents longer temporal studies in the same location and the samplers may be easily disturbed</li> <li>Installation success may be affected by sediment type, gravel, cobble or clay-rich can be problematic</li> <li>The horizontal instrument footprint is relatively large, resulting in lateral spacing of the vertical solute profiles</li> <li>The vertical solute profile may be disrupted if sampling does not occur at low flow rates</li> <li>The screening or filter at the base of the drivepoint is prone to clogging</li> </ul>

(continued on next page)

 Table 1 (continued)

Sampling methodology	Active or passive sampling	Sampling technique	Sampling depth	Horizontal instrument footprint	Vertical resolution	Temporal resolution	Deployment time	Advantages	Limitations
Diffusive equilibrium in thin-film (DET) gels	Passive	Solute equilibration	0.15-0.3 m	18–20 mm	10 mm (1 mm is theoretically possible)	Integrated over time of diffusive equilibration	At least 72 h	- The nature of passive sampling prevents disturbance of the vertical solute profile as long as diffusion within the gel is minimal - Quick and easy installation in soft sediments - High vertical resolution - Small horizontal instrument footprint	<ul> <li>Information on hydraulic gradients cannot be determined from these samplers</li> <li>Although hyporheic fluxes can be estimated, this assumes vertical flow is present, which is not always the case</li> <li>Installation is difficult in gravel sediments</li> <li>No hydrological information can be determined from the DET gel</li> <li>The gel requires installation ahead of sampling (72 h has been suggested)</li> <li>Vertical diffusion may occur within the gel, which can reduce profile fidelity, both during deployment and after removal</li> <li>The 40 mm wide plastic frame may alter hyporheic flow</li> </ul>

nutrients, which enable ecohydrological investigations across surface water-groundwater interfaces. A summary of the following literature review can be found in Table 1.

#### 2.1. Active samplers

2.1.1. Single-depth piezometers and single-depth mini-piezometers

Single-depth piezometers are used to sample pore-water at depths of up to several metres and are typically constructed from a steel, polyvinyl chloride (PVC) or high-density polyethylene (HDPE) pipe, which is screened at the bottom end over the desired vertical range; the bottom of the pipe is then blocked (Fig. 1) (Argerich et al., 2011; Baxter et al., 2003; Conant Jr. et al., 2004; Dahm et al., 2007; Geist et al., 1998; Grimm et al., 2007; Lee and Cherry, 1979; Lewandowski et al., 2015; Rivett et al., 2008). A screened section varying between tens and hundreds of millimetres is utilised depending on whether depthspecific or depth-integrated sampling is required (Baxter et al., 2003; Dahm et al., 2007; Geist et al., 1998; Winter et al., 1998). An alternative design, using porous (20 µm mean pore diameter) HDPE pipe, which does not require a screened section has also been used (Wondzell and Swanson, 1996). While piezometers sample water at a single depth, multiple piezometers may be nested to allow sampling at multiple depths, covering a larger horizontal instrument footprint, which are typically sampled consecutively (Battin et al., 2003a; Baxter et al., 2003; Käser et al., 2009; Krause et al., 2009). The instrument footprint of a single piezometer is typically 10-50 mm in diameter (Argerich et al., 2011; Baxter et al., 2003; Blume et al., 2013; Conant Jr. et al., 2004; Dahm et al., 2007; Geist et al., 1998; Krause et al., 2009; Rivett et al., 2008; Valett et al., 1994; Wondzell and Swanson, 1996), which can result in a relatively large instrument footprint when a nested design is utilised. Piezometers are deployed in the streambed usually for longer time scales of several weeks to years (Argerich et al., 2011; Dahm et al., 2007; Lee and Cherry, 1979), and the extracted porewater sample represents a snapshot of the conditions at the time of sampling (González-Pinzón et al., 2015). Prior to sampling, piezometers have to be purged of water by pumping until dry or until multiple times the water volume has been removed if complete purging is not feasible (Johnson et al., 2004; Krause et al., 2009; Lapworth et al., 2009). Porewater is sampled from the piezometer with a pump or syringe once it has refilled, hence, the pore-water is not extracted through suction from the sediment, but through ambient pore-water flow into the piezometer (Dahm et al., 2007), and is, therefore, affected by the hydrological conditions of the stream, i.e. gaining or losing and surface water level.

2.1.1.1. Advantages. Information on exchange fluxes between stream and subsurface, and properties such as hydraulic gradients and hydraulic conductivity can be obtained in the piezometer at the depth of sampling (Argerich et al., 2011; Baxter et al., 2003; Dahm et al., 2007; Datry et al., 2015; González-Pinzón et al., 2015; Grimm et al., 2007; Kalbus et al., 2006; Lee and Cherry, 1979; Valett et al., 1994), allowing hydrological and chemical information to be gained at the same location and through the same sampling device. The wide diameter of the piezometer also enables permanent installation of loggers to measure a variety of parameters including temperature, electrical conductivity, turbidity and pressure. The design, with water flowing into the piezometer (Dahm et al., 2007), allows larger volumes of water to be extracted than is attainable with other sampling methods. Furthermore, piezometer installation is straightforward in sandy and silt sediments, and if a wider spatially-integrated signal is required, the relatively large sampling footprint may be advantageous.

2.1.1.2. Limitations. Single-depth piezometers must be installed with sufficient time prior to sampling for the natural conditions of the streambed to re-establish, this time can be long (hours to days), especially when installing into clay, silt or shale sediment (Lewandowski et al., 2015; Ohio EPA, 2012). Piezometer installation in gravel and clay sediments can be difficult, and requires substantial hammering or predrilling of the sediment (Baxter et al., 2003; Geist et al., 1998; Grimm et al., 2007). The time taken for the piezometer to refill after purging can be long, in some cases prohibiting sampling, exposing pore-water to exchange with the atmosphere affecting dissolved gases. Additionally, the horizontal instrument footprint of the piezometer is relatively large, and the achievable vertical resolution is low compared to other techniques. Although hyporheic pore-water fluxes can be estimated, this assumes vertical flow is present, which is not always the case

(González-Pinzón et al., 2015), and reaction rates cannot be determined with this technique. Additionally, if the larger piezometer design is used (up to ~ 50 mm) this may alter the hyporheic flow at the sampling location (Ward et al., 2011).

#### 2.1.2. Multilevel mini-piezometers

Multilevel mini-piezometers consist of a number of small Tygon© or PTFE tubes of different lengths, which are fitted around a larger diameter central steel, PVC or HDPE tube (acting as a more traditional piezometer, Fig. 1) (Krause et al., 2013; Lewandowski et al., 2011, 2015; Rivett et al., 2008; Shelley et al., 2017). The piezometer design allows the extraction of pore-water at multiple discrete sampling depths and intervals, with minimal lateral spacing, which are defined by the user (Rivett et al., 2008). Sampling depths are typically between 0.1 and 2 m (Gooddy et al., 2014; Heppell et al., 2013; Krause et al., 2011b; Krause et al., 2013; Lansdown et al., 2015; Rivett et al., 2008; Shelley et al., 2017), with a vertical sampling interval of 0.1 m (Lansdown et al., 2015; Rivett et al., 2008; Shelley et al., 2017), although a vertical spatial resolution up to 50 mm is achievable with a low pore-water extraction rate (Rivett et al., 2008). The horizontal instrument footprint of the multilevel mini-piezometer setup is small, usually ~30 mm in diameter due to a relatively small diameter central piezometer tube, allowing depth profiles to be sampled over a small horizontal area of the streambed (Krause et al., 2013; Rivett et al., 2008; Shelley et al., 2017). Multilevel mini-piezometers are deployed into the streambed to usually remain for time periods between several days to years (Rivett et al., 2008), and the extracted pore-water sample represents a snapshot of the conditions at the time of sampling. Sample volumes are typically small and collected slowly with a syringe or with a peristaltic pump at a low flow rate, which limits disturbance to the hyporheic flow, as well as allowing a higher vertical resolution to be achieved (Krause et al., 2013; Lewandowski et al., 2015). If low pumping rates are used then the time taken for sampling may integrate a changing nutrient signal if sampling under rapidly changing environmental conditions. The multiple depths of the multilevel mini-piezometers may be sampled simultaneously or consecutively. A pore-water sampler combining attributes of the single-depth piezometer and the multilevel minipiezometers has recently been developed, using a relatively large central piezometer (32 mm outer diameter) up to 4 m depth (Gassen et al., 2017). Sampling ports are connected to the central tube so that the sampling resolution varies from 0.05 to 0.5 m, depending on which zone is being sampled at that depth. Although this affords highresolution sampling at critical zones with a large depth profile, this sampling methodology retains the issues associated with a large horizontal instrument footprint.

2.1.2.1. Advantages. Hydraulic gradient, hydraulic conductivity and hyporheic exchange can be determined in the central piezometer tube provided its internal diameter is large enough to be manually dipmetred (Baxter et al., 2003; Dahm et al., 2007; Grimm et al., 2007; Lee and Cherry, 1979), while residence times and hyporheic water fluxes may be determined in the multilevel tubes, therefore, reaction rates can also be calculated using this technique (Shelley et al., 2017). Multilevel mini-piezometers allow pore-water samples to be extracted from discrete depths, enabling vertical solute profiles to be captured (Krause et al., 2013; Rivett et al., 2008). Their design, which is both compact and user-defined, leads to easy installation in soft sediment (Dahm et al., 2007) and a small sampling diameter (Krause et al., 2013; Rivett et al., 2008; Shelley et al., 2017), as well as a flexible vertical depth and resolution (Rivett et al., 2008), to target focus areas based on the specific research questions. The central piezometer tube is flexible and so bends with surface water flow resulting in a more storm-resilient piezometer, less likely to be displaced or contaminated during storms, than more traditional, rigid single-well piezometers (Rivett et al., 2008). The flexible design also causes less visual disturbance; therefore, these samplers are also less prone to vandalism. Furthermore, the larger range of sampling available when using multilevel mini-piezometers allows streambed biogeochemistry to be investigated at a higher spatial (vertical) resolution and depth. Sampling with syringes or pumping into syringes prevents contact with the atmosphere eliminating issues of exchange of dissolved gases.

2.1.2.2. Limitations. The hydrological information gained via hydraulic gradients is difficult to determine in the discrete depths of the multilevel mini-piezometers, due to the small diameter of the multilevel sampling tubes (Rivett et al., 2008). Only the central piezometer tube, therefore, can provide information on hydraulic gradients (Krause et al., 2013; Rivett et al., 2008). Hence, it is not possible to ascertain this information for each sampling depth and only information at the deepest location of the piezometer is available. Additionally, the central tube is usually too small to allow installation of continuous monitoring devices for hydraulic heads, electrical conductivity, turbidity or different solute chemical parameters. There is a risk of disrupting the vertical solute profile during sampling, as drawing samples at too high flow rate or at too great a vacuum may cause overlap in the sample area between depths or alter preferential flow (artificially increasing horizontal or vertical flow) in the streambed (Krause et al., 2013). The sampling interval achievable using multilevel mini-piezometers is relatively coarse (typically 50–100 mm's) compared to other discrete depth-sampling techniques (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Duff et al., 1998; Harvey et al., 2013; Rivett et al., 2008; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006). The piezometers are usually installed several days in advance of sampling to allow the sediment to re-settle around the piezometer and for the ambient flow conditions to re-establish (Lewandowski et al., 2015). In gravel or clay sediments, installation can be more difficult and may require pre-drilling of a hole or substantial hammering to install the piezometer into the streambed (Baxter et al., 2003; Grimm et al., 2007). Although hyporheic fluxes can be estimated, this assumes vertical flow is present, which is not always the case (González-Pinzón et al., 2015).

#### 2.1.3. Miniature drivepoint samplers

Miniature drivepoints have been developed to sample streambed chemistry at high vertical resolution with minimal disturbance caused at the streambed (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006). Several variations and design adaptations have been developed over time, including: 1) six ~3 mm diameter, stainless steel drivepoints fixed in a 0.1 m diameter circle on a plastic disk (USGS Minipoint sampler, shown as example in Fig. 1) (Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998), 2) nine 8 mm diameter drivepoints held in a PVC or stainless steel ring (Sanders and Trimmer, 2006) and 3) a single 2.4 mm diameter, stainless steel drivepoint, which is deployed successively for spot sampling through six guiding holes in a 47 mm diameter circle on an acrylic plate (Berg and McGlathery, 2000).

Water is sampled through a screened section near the tip of the drivepoint, which typically comprises of slots (Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998) or holes (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006). The drivepoint samplers are installed to discrete, user-defined depths to enable the upper 0.4 m of the streambed to be sampled at high vertical resolution, between 10 and 30 mm (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Duff et al., 1998; Harvey et al., 2013; Harvey and Fuller, 1998; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006). The horizontal instrument footprints of miniature drivepoint samplers are relatively large resulting in pore-water samples collected from different depths over a wider area than those from a multilevel mini-piezometer. These samplers are usually installed shortly before sampling, enabling them to be used as roaming samplers, with extracted samples representing a snapshot of the conditions at the time of sampling (González-Pinzón et al., 2015; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006). Due to the usually low pumping rates used for sampling, however, this sampling time can be long. Samples collected using miniature drivepoint

samplers tend to be of relatively small volume (1.5–70 ml) (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006) and are extracted slowly using a syringe or a peristaltic pump with very low flow rates (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998). This prevents the ambient hyporheic flow from being disturbed, as well as maintaining a high vertical resolution (Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998). The discrete sampling depths may be sampled simultaneously (Duff et al., 1998; Harvey et al., 2013; Harvey and Fuller, 1998) or consecutively. Sampling with syringes or pumping into syringes prevents contact with the atmosphere eliminating issues of exchange of dissolved gases.

2.1.3.1. Advantages. Residence times, hyporheic fluxes and hyporheic exchange can be determined at multiple depths using miniature drivepoint samplers (González-Pinzón et al., 2015), providing measurements that allow calculation of reaction rates (Harvey et al., 2013; Knapp et al., 2017). The combination of small sample volumes and low extraction rates enables sampling with minimal disturbance to the ambient hyporheic flow, allowing high-resolution pore-water extraction, which is difficult to achieve with other piezometer methods (Harvey and Fuller, 1998). The small diameter of miniature drivepoint samplers enables easy and rapid installation with minimal disturbance to the streambed (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Duff et al., 1998; Harvey and Fuller, 1998; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006). This allows the drivepoints to be sampled shortly after deployment and used effectively as roaming samplers where probes are installed, sampled and then removed, before installation at a new location. The short deployment time also enables unstable and unconsolidated sediments, which may move frequently between events, to be sampled. Pore-water samples can be pre-filtered at the tip of the probe through its design (Berg and McGlathery, 2000) or glass wool (Sanders and Trimmer, 2006), or filtered inline during pumping (Harvey et al., 2013).

2.1.3.2. Limitations. Given the temporary nature of the installation of miniature drivepoint samplers, they cannot be installed for long periods and so longer temporal studies would not be conducted in exactly the same location. Additionally, their ease of deployment and removal for roaming surveys means these samplers may be more easily disturbed than permanent installations, and so the depth of sampling could be compromised. The success of miniature drivepoint sampler installation can be heavily dependent on sediment type as deployment in gravel, cobble or clay-rich sediments is challenging (Ruhala et al., 2018), despite this, samplers have been successfully used in coarse sediments (Harvey et al., 2013). The relatively large horizontal instrument footprint (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Duff et al., 1998; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006), resulting in samples from different depths not being vertically aligned where drivepoints are held in sampling arrays as is the designs of many drivepoints, may result in inaccurate vertical profiles where small-scale heterogeneity in sediment properties occurs. Pore-water samples must be extracted from miniature drivepoint samplers at a low rate to prevent pore-water being drawn from outside of the intended sampling depth, and to prevent changes in preferential flow, to preserve the high spatial resolution (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Harvey et al., 2013; Harvey and Fuller, 1998; Sanders and Trimmer, 2006). The screening or filter at the base of miniature drivepoint samplers is prone to clogging in silt, clay or organic-rich sediments, which may disrupt sampling and reduce the lifetime of the filter (which tends to be difficult to change) if one is used with the drivepoint design. It is not possible to determine information on hydraulic gradients from these samplers due to the small inner diameter of sampling tubes. Hyporheic fluxes can be estimated under the assumption that vertical flow is present, which is not always the case (González-Pinzón et al., 2015).

#### 2.2. Passive equilibration samplers

#### 2.2.1. DET gel probes

DET gel probes (Davison et al., 1991; Harper et al., 1997) are passive samplers consisting of a polyacrylamide hydrogel (Davison et al., 1994; Krom et al., 1994; Mortimer et al., 1998; Ullah et al., 2012), which contains ~95% water, is between ~0.4 to 1.8 mm thick, and housed in a plastic probe (Davison et al., 1991; Harper et al., 1997; Krom et al., 1994; Ullah et al., 2012). DET gels are available in either NaNO<sub>3</sub> or NaCl buffer, with the buffer dependent on the type of solutes to be analysed (DGT Research Ltd.; www.dgtresearch.com). Rather than extracting porewater actively from the streambed, solutes in the investigated substrate diffuse across the DET gel membrane, into and out of the gel, until equilibrium with the pore-water is reached (Davison and Zhang, 1994; Davison et al., 1991; Davison et al., 1994; Harper et al., 1997). The gel probes are then removed from the sediment, the gel sliced at the required vertical resolution, and back-equilibrated with a known volume of ultrapure water (Krom et al., 1994; Mortimer et al., 1998). The concentration of solute in the DET gel slices and hence, the pore-water is determined from this eluate (Harper et al., 1997).

Commercially available DET gels are typically 0.15 m in length and so this vertical range is usually sampled, however, they have also been modified and used for streambed pore-water sampling at depths up to 0.3 m (Fig. 1) (Ullah et al., 2012). The vertical resolution attained by the DET gel is determined by the interval at which the gel is either partitioned within the probe or immediately sliced at upon removal from the sediment (Davison et al., 1994; Mortimer et al., 1998). Vertical sampling resolutions in the mm range are possible if slicing occurs fast enough after removal to avoid vertical diffusion within the gel or if the DET gel is constrained at the desired resolution (Dočekalová et al., 2002; Harper et al., 1997; Krause et al., 2013; Krom et al., 1994; Ullah et al., 2012). Recently, DET gels have been combined with colorimetry and hyperspectral imagery, which enables two-dimensional nitrite and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) distributions to be simultaneously measured at millimetre scale (Metzger et al., 2016). The horizontal instrument footprint of the DET gel probe is ~5 mm  $\times$  40 mm, however, the exposed membrane of the gel is only 18-20 mm wide (Krause et al., 2013; Krom et al., 1994; Mortimer et al., 1998). DET gel probes are usually deployed into the sediment for at least 72 h prior to retrieval to allow ambient flow conditions to re-establish after installation and equilibrium with the pore-water to be reached (Byrne et al., 2015; Mortimer et al., 1998; Ullah et al., 2012). Due to the DET gel being an equilibration technique the samples collected represent an average of the biogeochemical concentrations dynamics over the time of diffusive equilibration within the sediment, i.e. the time for solute concentrations to equilibrate between pore-water and gel rather than deployment time (Berg and McGlathery, 2000; Davison et al., 1994). The nature of this technique means that all depths are sampled simultaneously and environments which are diffusion-dominated with low solute velocities are most suitable for sampling with diffusion equilibrators (Duff et al., 1998).

2.2.1.1. Advantages. The passive sampling of solutes through diffusion into the sampler prevents potential issues associated with streambed pore-water extraction preventing crossover between depths as long as diffusion within the gel is minimum (Dočekalová et al., 2002; Harper et al., 1997). Installation in soft sediment is quick and easy, requiring only pushing into the sediment by hand. The DET gel sampler has a very high vertical resolution (Harper et al., 1997; Krom et al., 1994; Ullah et al., 2012), and the horizontal instrument footprint is small minimising the lateral distribution of the vertical profile (Krause et al., 2013; Krom et al., 1994; Mortimer et al., 1998). Despite the potential for the highest spatial resolutions of all analysed methods any biogeochemical patterns lesser or equal to the gel slicing resolution cannot be resolved (Harper et al., 1997).

2.2.1.2. Limitations. Difficulty can arise in deployment of DET gel probes in gravel sediments, although Ullah et al. (2012) developed a stainlesssteel installation device and successfully deployed the DET gel probes in an armoured gravel bed. As the DET gel probe is not a piezometer, no hydrological information, such as hydraulic gradients or hyporheic flow, can be ascertained from the device, therefore, information is limited to pore-water solute concentrations. The long time required for DET gel deployment prior to sampling requires careful planning (Mortimer et al., 1998; Ullah et al., 2012). Furthermore, the vertical resolution may be compromised by vertical diffusion within the DET gel, which is dependent on gel thickness and time between removal and slicing (Davison et al., 1994; Harper et al., 1997). The 40 mm wide plastic frame of the gel bears the risk of altering the hyporheic flow at the sampling location (Ward et al., 2011).

#### 3. Comparative study of sampling methodologies

The literature review indicated key differences between the common streambed sampling technologies available, most notably in sampling technique (active versus passive), spatial and temporal resolution, and sampling range. Here we explore these differences through a comparative experimental analysis using some of the most frequently used sampling methodologies with important differences. These methodologies include active and passive sampling techniques and span a range of vertical resolutions and sampling scales.

#### 3.1. Method comparison experiment

#### 3.1.1. In-situ experiment

An in-situ field study was performed to compare the impact of applied pore-water sampling methods on observed streambed nutrient patterns, using multilevel mini-piezometers and Minipoints (as examples of active samplers), and DET gel probes (as examples of passive samplers) (Byrne et al., 2015; Krause et al., 2011a; Ullah et al., 2012).

3.1.1.1. Study site. The study was conducted in the Hammer stream in West Sussex, UK (Fig. 2), which is typical of lowland rivers experiencing increased nitrate loading. The Hammer is a sandy stream, which drains a 24.6 km<sup>2</sup> catchment with bedrock predominantly made up of green-sands and mudstones (Blaen et al., 2018; Shelley et al., 2017; BGS, 2016). Land-use within the catchment is predominantly agricultural, with smaller patches of deciduous broad-leafed woodland, with the Hammer stream flowing through a deciduous forested valley at the experimental site (Blaen et al., 2018; BGS, 2016), and the mean annual precipitation is 790 mm (UK Met Office, 2016).

The application of the different field sampling methods focussed on an approximately 60 m meandering reach of the stream (Fig. 2), where the streambed was dominated by spatially-homogeneous, sandy sediment (Shelley et al., 2017). The study reach is characterised by multiple bedforms including pools and bars, and has extensive woody debris. Stream discharge at the experimental site typically ranged between 70 and 120 l s<sup>-1</sup>, however, discharge may exceed 1000 l s<sup>-1</sup> during storm events that typically occur in winter (Blaen et al., 2018). The river valley is underlain by expansive, low conductivity peat deposits and clay lenses at 1–2 m depth, which inhibit groundwater upwelling, therefore, the regional groundwater contribution is not expected to cause significant inputs (Shelley et al., 2017).

3.1.1.2. Multilevel mini-piezometers. Pore-water samples were collected on the 9th July 2015 from 40 multilevel mini-piezometers (Fig. 2c), installed more than one year in advance of the experiment. Porewater samples (10 ml) were manually collected from the multilevel mini-piezometers at depths of 0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.5 and 1 m using a syringe.

Pore-water samples were immediately filtered ( $0.45 \mu m$  Whatman) into acid-washed (10% HCl) vials, stored cool and in the dark in the field, and frozen once returned to the laboratory until laboratory analysis.

Pore-water samples were analysed for nitrate and ammonium concentration using a continuous flow analyser (San++, Skalar, Breda, The Netherlands), with a limit of detection and precision of 0.01  $\pm$  5% mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>4</sup>-N l<sup>-1</sup> and 0.001  $\pm$  1% mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N l<sup>-1</sup>.

3.1.1.3. Minipoint samplers. Pore-water samples were collected twice between the 16th and 18th June 2015 from 16 Minipoint samplers (Fig. 2c), installed on the day of sampling. Pore-water samples (50 ml) were slowly pumped from the Minipoint samplers using a multichannel peristaltic pump at depths of 25, 50, 75, 100, 125 and 150 mm. Surface water samples were also taken at this time. Porewater samples collected from Minipoint samplers were immediately filtered (0.45 µm Whatman) into acid-washed (10% HCl) vials, stored cool and in the dark in the field, and frozen once returned to the laboratory until laboratory analysis. Pore-water samples were analysed for nitrate and ammonium concentration using a continuous flow analyser (San++, Skalar, Breda, The Netherlands). A different Skalar instrument was used for the samples from each method resulting in Minipoint sampler samples analysed with an accuracy and precision of 0.1 and  $\pm$ 0.02 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N l<sup>-1</sup> and 0.14 and  $\pm$  0.01 mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N l<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, and a limit of detection of 0.02 mg N  $l^{-1}$  for ammonium and nitrate, using a 3 mg N  $l^{-1}$  standard for both ammonium and nitrate.

3.1.1.4. DET gels. The DET gels were deployed on the 10th and 11th June 2015, so that they were co-located with 21 of the multilevel minipiezometers. The DET gels were removed on the 17th June 2015 and sliced at 50 mm intervals (ultrapure water-rinsed blade on an acid-washed (10% HCl) board) within 5 min of removal. The DET gel slices were stored in acid-washed (10% HCl) centrifuge tubes at 4 °C until laboratory analysis within four months.

3.1.1.4.1. Elution of DET gels. The gels were weighed to determine the volume of water within the DET gel slice (assumed water content of 95%) and 5 ml of ultrapure (18.2 M $\Omega$ ) water added to each tube. The gels were back-equilibrated by shaking, on ice, for 20 h, after which, the gels were removed, and the eluate frozen for storage until analysis. Eluate samples were analysed for nitrate and ammonium concentration using a continuous flow analyser (San++, Skalar, Breda, The Netherlands), with an accuracy and precision of 0.1 and  $\pm$  0.02 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>4</sup>-N l<sup>-1</sup> and 0.14 and  $\pm$  0.01 mg NO<sub>3</sub><sup>3</sup>-N l<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, and a limit of detection of 0.02 mg N l<sup>-1</sup> for ammonium and nitrate, using 0.61 and 1.01 mg N l<sup>-1</sup> standards, respectively. The concentration within the gel, and hence the pore-water, was then calculated using the volume of water within the gel slice.

#### 3.1.2. Laboratory experiment

Fine, sand-dominated stream sediment was collected from the Mill Brook at the Birmingham Institute of Forest Research, Staffordshire, UK in May 2016, see Blaen et al. (2017) for site information. Moist sediment was sieved (16 mm), homogenised and placed into three 10 l containers. Solutions of varying ammonium concentrations (0.0, 4.9 and 10.0 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> l<sup>-1</sup>) were made from a stock of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl and 10 l of solution was added to each of the three containers resulting in saturated sediment, and DET gels and multilevel mini-piezometers, with sampling depths of 25, 75 and 125 mm, were installed into the sediment. After three days, the DET gels were removed and sliced at 50 mm intervals, and the multilevel mini-piezometers were sampled. Three additional DET gels were equilibrated in ultrapure water (18.2 M $\Omega$ ) for 24 h for quality control purposes. The DET gels were processed as detailed in Section 3.1.1.4, and all samples were stored frozen until analysis.

#### 3.1.3. Statistical analysis

The nitrate and ammonium data obtained from each technique in the field and laboratory studies were checked for normality and equality of variances, and the appropriate parametric or non-parametric test applied to determine whether differences between methods were significant. In the field study, assessment of any differences (*p*-value <0.05) in



Fig. 2. Location of a. the Hammer stream within the UK (represented by the red star), b. the study reach (indicated by the red section) at the Hammer Stream, green indicates woodland and white indicates agricultural land and c. the location of the different sampling devices used in this study.

measured nitrate and ammonium from the three sampling methods were determined using the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test. If significant differences between the groups were identified, a Dunn test was performed to identify which groups were statistically different. In the laboratory study, significant differences (p-value <0.05) in ammonium between sampling methods were determined using a paired t-test or the equivalent non-parametric Wilcoxon rank sum test.

#### 3.2. Results

#### 3.2.1. Field study

#### 3.2.1.1. Pore-water nitrate

3.2.1.1.1. Vertical concentration profiles in the top 1 m of the streambed. The comparison of the techniques in this section, and all subsequent sections, refers to the precision of the techniques, as the actual porewater nutrient concentrations are unknown. The nitrate depth profiles observed varied depending upon which sampling technique was used (Fig. 3); the greatest individual porewater nitrate concentrations were observed in the DET gel samples, however, more samples taken with the Minipoints had relatively high concentrations. The concentrations in the multilevel mini-piezometer samples were predominantly lower than those found during sampling with either the DET gels or the Minipoints. Mean pore-water nitrate concentrations were determined at each sampling depth used for each method and were typically highest in the data from the DET gels (3.78 to  $4.34 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$ ), although the highest mean pore-water concentrations in the shallowest depths were found using the Minipoints (10.22 and 5.86 mg  $l^{-1}$  at 2.5 and 5 cm, respectively). The largest range of mean pore-water nitrate concentrations per depth was observed in the Minipoint data (9.67 mg  $l^{-1}$ , Fig. 4). There was no statistically significant difference (p-value = 0.54, Table 2) in nitrate concentrations between the methods used. The clearest trend in mean pore-water nitrate concentration with depth was observed in the Minipoint data (Fig. 4), where mean pore-water nitrate concentrations decreased non-linearly with depth, from 10.2 to  $0.54 \text{ mg } l^{-1}$  over a depth interval of 25 to 150 mm below the streambed interface. The small range in mean concentrations per depth captured by the DET gels and multilevel mini-piezometers (3.78 to 4.34 mg  $l^{-1}$ and 0.73 to 2.53 mg  $l^{-1}$  for DET gels and multilevel mini-piezometer samples, respectively) prevented such a clear trend from being observed, although the vertical concentration profile from the multilevel mini-piezometer data was similar to the one observed in the Minipoints (Fig. 4).

3.2.1.1.2. Vertical concentration profiles in the top 0.15 m of the streambed. Descriptive statistics were calculated individually for each method from all data collected in the top 0.15 m of the streambed as this represents the overlap of the window of detection for the sampling methods. The highest mean pore-water nitrate concentration was observed in the Minipoint samples (4.08 mg  $l^{-1}$ ) and DET gel samples (4.02 mg  $l^{-1}$ ), in comparison the mean pore-water nitrate concentration measured in the multilevel mini-piezometer samples was only 2.53 mg  $l^{-1}$ . The highest coefficient of variation and range were observed with the DET gels (173.36 and 34.23 mg  $l^{-1}$ , respectively), however, the lowest coefficient of variation was found in the Minipoint samples (135.05) and the lowest range in the multilevel mini-piezometer samples (15.00 mg  $l^{-1}$ , Table 3). The coefficient of variation of the multilevel mini-piezometer data and the range of the Minipoint data were intermediate of these values (151.78 and 17.62 mg  $l^{-1}$ , respectively). There was, however, no statistically significant difference (p-value = 0.27, Table 2) in nitrate concentrations in the top 0.15 m between the methods used.

#### 3.2.1.2. Pore-water ammonium

3.2.1.2.1. Vertical concentration profiles in the top 1 m of the streambed. The observed pore-water ammonium depth profiles varied between the three techniques (Fig. 3); with the largest values and range observed in samples from multilevel mini-piezometers, and the lowest concentrations observed with the Minipoints. Mean pore-water ammonium concentrations were determined at each sampling depth used for each method and the largest mean concentrations  $(3.83 \text{ to } 5.73 \text{ mg } \text{I}^{-1})$ and range  $(1.90 \text{ mg } \text{I}^{-1})$  were observed in the multilevel minipiezometer samples, and the smallest mean concentrations  $(0.50 \text{ to} 1.56 \text{ mg } \text{I}^{-1})$  and range  $(1.06 \text{ mg } \text{I}^{-1})$  were observed in the Minipoint data (Fig. 4). Differences in pore-water ammonium concentrations between the three methods were statistically significant (*p*-value <0.01, Table 2), with significant differences between all sampling methods (all *p*-values <0.01, Table 2). The most pronounced trend in mean pore-water ammonium concentrations increased linearly with depth from 0.50 to 1.56 mg  $\text{I}^{-1}$  (Fig. 4), and the multilevel mini-piezometer data indicated a maximum in pore-water ammonium concentration of 5.73 mg  $\text{I}^{-1}$  at 0.2 m.

3.2.1.2.2. Vertical concentration profiles in the top 0.15 m of the streambed. Descriptive statistics were calculated individually for each method from all data collected in the top 0.15 m of the streambed as this represents the overlap of the window of detection for the sampling methods. The highest mean pore-water ammonium concentration was observed in the multilevel mini-piezometer data  $(3.83 \text{ mg l}^{-1})$ , whereas the lowest was observed in the Minipoint sampler data (1.05 mg  $l^{-1}$ ). The mean pore-water ammonium concentration observed with the DET gels was intermediate of these values (2.32 mg  $l^{-1}$ ). The coefficient of variation was highest in the Minipoint samples (188.57) and lowest in the multilevel mini-piezometer samples (74.67), whereas, the range was highest in the multilevel mini-piezometer data (11.64 mg  $l^{-1}$ ) and lowest in the Minipoint data, with a similar range observed with the Minipoint samplers and DET gels (10.02 and 10.18 mg l<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, Table 3). For the top 0.15 m, the differences in pore-water ammonium concentrations between the three methods were statistically significant (*p*-value <0.01, Table 2), and were significant between all sampling methods (all *p*-values <0.01, Table 2).

3.2.1.3. Surface water concentrations. Mean surface water nitrate concentrations were high (14.27 mg  $l^{-1}$ ), whereas surface water ammonium concentrations were low (0.10 mg  $l^{-1}$ ).

#### 3.2.2. Laboratory experiments

A comparison of the mean pore-water ammonium concentration at each depth showed that the concentration in the DET gel samples was higher than in the multilevel mini-piezometer samples at all depths (Fig. 5). It should be noted, however, that pore-water ammonium concentrations were slightly higher in the multilevel mini-piezometer data than in the DET gel data in two samples (0.14 and 0.08 mg l<sup>-1</sup> higher, high concentration solution, 25 mm depth). The differences in pore-water ammonium concentrations obtained by the two methods were statistically significant at all depths (*p*-value = 0.02, 0.02 and <0.01 for 2.5, 7.5 and 12.5 cm depths, respectively, Table 4). Porewater nitrate concentrations were not measured during these laboratory experiments as no nitrate was detectable in the DET gel samples after processing. The ammonium concentrations in the DET gel samples, which were equilibrated in ultrapure water (as quality control), were below the limit of detection, and so were effectively zero.

#### 3.3. Discussion

#### 3.3.1. Field study

Despite the variations in pore-water concentrations observed using the different sampling techniques discussed in detail below, these differences were not statistically significant with respect to nitrate (pvalue >0.54), suggesting that the choice of sampling techniques did not have a significant effect on the outcome of analysed pore-water concentrations. This would be expected given that the samplers do not all sample the same depths of the streambed and that they were not colocated and hence, the variability between different locations was



Fig. 3. Vertical profiles of pore-water nitrate concentration (mg l<sup>-1</sup>) observed in the streambed of the Hammer Stream, Sussex, UK using a. multilevel mini-piezometers, b. Minipoint samplers and c. diffusive equilibrium in thin-film (DET) gel probes and vertical profiles of pore-water ammonium concentration (mg l<sup>-1</sup>) in the streambed of the Hammer Stream, Sussex, UK using d. multilevel mini-piezometers, e. Minipoint samplers and f. DET gels.



**Fig. 4**. Mean pore-water nitrate concentrations  $(mg l^{-1}) \pm 1$  standard deviation for each sampling depth analysed in the streambed sediments of the Hammer Stream, Sussex, UK by using a. multilevel mini-piezometers, b. Minipoint samplers and c. diffusive equilibrium in thin-film (DET) gels and mean pore-water ammonium concentrations  $(mg l^{-1}) \pm 1$  standard deviation for each sampling depth in the streambed sediments of the Hammer Stream, Sussex, UK using d. multilevel minipiezometers, e. Minipoint samplers and f. DET gels.

#### Table 2

Statistical test results from all data from the Hammer stream, UK, where the Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test indicated a significant difference between results obtained by the different pore-water sampling methods, a Dunn test was used to determine which groups of pore-water samples were significantly different. Statistically significant comparisons are indicated by bold *p*-values.

Groups	p-Value	d.f.	Test
Nitrate	0.54	2	Kruskal-Wallis rank sum
Ammonium	<0.01	2	Kruskal-Wallis rank sum
DET-minipoint	<0.01	-	Dunn test
DET-piezometer	<0.01	-	Dunn test
Minipoint-piezometer	<0.01	-	Dunn test
Nitrate (15 cm)	0.27	2	Kruskal-Wallis rank sum
Ammonium (15 cm)	<0.01	2	Kruskal-Wallis rank sum
DET-minipoint (15 cm)	<0.01	-	Dunn test
DET-piezometer (15 cm)	<0.01	-	Dunn test
Minipoint-piezometer (15 cm)	<0.01	-	Dunn test

greater than the variability between techniques. Even though the differences were not statistically significant, there were differences observed and these affected biogeochemical classification of the streambed (see detailed discussion below), therefore, the methods used should be carefully chosen to capture the data required to address experimental hypotheses.

On the other hand, there was a statistically significant difference in pore-water ammonium concentrations (*p*-value <0.01) obtained by the different pore-water sampling techniques, indicating that the selected sampling technique can have wide implications for experimental results. It is somewhat surprising that there was no statistically significant difference in the pore-water nitrate concentrations, given that pore-water nitrate concentrations have been shown to be sensitive to active versus passive sampling techniques (Briggs et al., 2015). Although significant differences between these methodologies were observed, care should be taken when comparing results gained from differing sampling techniques.

The differences in concentrations measured with the three porewater sampling techniques may be explained by some key differences in sampler principles and setup. The Minipoint samples revealed mean pore-water concentrations at the first sampling depth that were higher in nitrate and lower in ammonium concentrations than samples obtained from the multilevel mini-piezometers. However, as both techniques use active sampling methods, similar concentrations would be expected. The difference may be explained by the common multilevel mini-piezometer setup used, where pore-water is sampled at a coarser resolution over a larger depth range (Krause et al., 2013; Rivett et al., 2008). Here, the shallowest depth sampled with the multilevel minipiezometers was 100 mm, therefore, any downwelling surface water, which is high in nitrate and low in ammonium at this site, would already have been affected by streambed processes occurring at shallow sampling depths (Battin et al., 2003b; Knapp et al., 2017; O'Connor and Harvey, 2008), whereas the Minipoint samples at 25 mm would capture this surface water signature more efficiently. Additionally, the volume sampled with the Minipoints was five times larger than that sampled with the multilevel mini-piezometers, which despite low pumping rates, may have increased hyporheic flow. This is furthermore evidenced by other research at this study site, which found that nitrate

#### Table 3

Descriptive statistics for all pore-water data from the top 0.15 m of the streambed obtained from application of DET gels, Minipoint samplers and multilevel mini-piezometers sampling at the Hammer Stream, Sussex, UK.

Method	Nitrate	$(mg l^{-1})$		Ammonium (mg $l^{-1}$ )		
	Mean	CV	Range	Mean	CV	Range
Multilevel mini-piezometer Minipoint sampler DET gel	2.53 4.08 4.02	151.78 135.05 173.36	15.00 17.62 34.23	3.83 1.05 2.32	74.67 188.57 101.52	11.64 10.02 10.18

entering the streambed in surface water was immediately reduced (Shelley et al., 2017). The depth of sampling, with most of the multilevel mini-piezometer samples extracted from >0.3 m depth, may also explain why this technique resulted in the lowest pore-water nitrate concentrations and the highest pore-water ammonium concentrations, as a different section of the streambed is being sampled. The results here correspond with previous observations of significant rates of denitrification between depths of 50 mm and 0.7 m in streambed sediments (Stelzer et al., 2011); however, previous research at this site found low rates of nitrate reduction at depths >0.60 m (Shelley et al., 2017). It is important to note that multilevel mini-piezometers may be designed to sample at a finer resolution in the top 0.2 m of the streambed, with an achievable sampling resolution of 50 mm (Rivett et al., 2008).

Analysis of the DET gel samples yielded different concentrations than samples obtained from Minipoints, despite these two techniques sampling similar depths within the streambed. Both samplers, however, are mechanically different; DET gels are passive samplers (Byrne et al., 2015; Krause et al., 2011a; Ullah et al., 2012) whereas the Minipoints are active samplers, hence Minipoints are likely to sample pore-water from more mobile macropores and the DET gels from micropores or matrix pores (Harvey, 1993; Harvey et al., 1995). The Minipoints may, therefore, predominantly sample mobile water (often downwelling surface water in the near-surface sediment), which primarily flows through the macropores, whereas, the DET gels should predominantly sample less mobile micropores less likely to reflect surface water concentrations. Macropores and micropores have differing characteristics with shorter residence times, more oxygenated conditions, lower rates of denitrification and higher rates of nitrification typically observed in macropores than micropores (Briggs et al., 2015), which may explain the higher pore-water nitrate and lower pore-water ammonium concentrations found in the Minipoint data.

Similar differences in ammonium concentrations in active versus passive samplers have been observed previously where larger ammonium concentrations were observed in DET gel samples than in multi-level mini-piezometer samples (Mortimer et al., 1998; Ullah et al., 2012); however, no differences have also been observed (Krom et al., 1994; Mortimer et al., 2002). This may also have affected the vertical profiles obtained from the Minipoints and the DET gels, with a non-linear decrease in pore-water nitrate and a linear increase in pore-water ammonium observed with depth in the Minipoint data, which was not seen with the DET gels. Despite the hypothesis presented here, more rigorous testing of the pore space sampled by active versus passive samplers is required to determine whether this accounts for the differences in ammonium concentrations observed between DET gels and active samplers.

Furthermore, as porewater was extracted using Minipoints the samples for laboratory analysis were extracted in-situ, however, as the DET gel only samples solutes diffused into the polyacrylamide gel, a solution has to be created for analysis in the laboratory using back-equilibration. This process could produce differences in pore-water concentrations between the two sampling techniques, especially given that here gel slices were back-equilibrated on ice for 20 h. The time required for back-equilibration was not tested here and so the time used (20h) may have been unnecessarily long, and is sufficient for potential changes in resulting pore-water concentrations to occur. Additionally, the difference in sampling resolution (25 mm in the Minipoints and 50 mm in the DET gels), may have had some effect on the vertical profile; however, it is difficult to interpret the effect due to the multidirectional nature of hyporheic flow (Bencala, 1993; Mulholland and DeAngelis, 2000).

These differences in sampler principles and setup may also have affected the vertical trends of nitrogen species observed, with the clearest trend observed in the Minipoint data. Minipoint samplers were able to sample the mobile pore-waters in the most biogeochemically variable upper zone of the streambed (Battin et al., 2003b; Knapp et al., 2017; O'Connor and Harvey, 2008; Shelley et al., 2017), allowing for influences



**Fig. 5.** Mean ammonium pore-water concentrations (mg  $l^{-1}$ )  $\pm 1$  standard deviation found by multilevel mini-piezometer and DET sampling at each sampling depth in the laboratory column experiments.

of downwelling surface water and biogeochemical processes to be observed in the profile. The lack of trend in the DET gel data was unexpected, especially given that DET gels have previously been used to capture biogeochemically active zones within sediment (Comer-Warner et al., 2017; Ullah et al., 2012, 2014).

The samples collected using the investigated methods were not ideally co-located nor sampled simultaneously. Samples were collected from multilevel mini-piezometers at a different time (9th July 2015) than those from the DET gels (17th June 2015) and Minipoint samplers (16-18th June 2015), and the Minipoint samplers were not co-located with the DET gels and multilevel mini-piezometers (see Fig. 2c). Despite the sampling variations we believe the discussion remains valid due to co-located samplers requiring sufficient distance between them to prevent interference, therefore, even co-located samplers may not sample the same parcel of water. This is particularly important where there is large variability in nutrients at small-scales, which has been observed in the Hammer Stream (Shelley et al., 2017). The techniques were utilised individually to gather insight into the reach-scale streambed biogeochemistry inferred from nutrient profiles obtained from each method, therefore, all data from each sampling technique were compared rather than individual nutrient profiles. We believe the presented results are crucial observations of wider relevance, because outcomes from different sampling techniques are often used interchangeably without considering effects inherent to the technique. The quantitative comparison presented here, therefore, provides valuable information on the validity of assumptions that different sampling techniques provide comparable results.

The differences in results from the streambed samplers utilised in this case study may have resulted from variations in the window of observation, vertical resolution and sampler principles (active versus passive) between the methods. These differences may lead to conflicting characterisation of the biogeochemical conditions influencing streambed pore-water concentrations within the study reach; therefore,

#### Table 4

Statistical test results from all pore-water data from the laboratory column experiments, *p*-values <0.05 (shown in bold) indicate a significant difference between pore-water samples extracted by DET gels and multilevel mini-piezometers at the respective depths.

Groups	p-Value	d.f.	Test
DET gel v piezometer 2.5 cm	0.02	-	Wilcoxon signed rank
DET gel v piezometer 7.5 cm	0.02	-	Wilcoxon signed rank
DET gel v piezometer 12.5 cm	<0.01	8	Paired <i>t-</i> test

potentially different conclusions could be drawn based on the analysis of results from studies that apply only one method.

For the field case study presented here the streambed characterisation did vary between the methods used. The multilevel minipiezometer samples indicated a stream reach characterised by reduced conditions and anoxia, leading to a decrease in pore-water nitrate and increase in pore-water ammonium (Dahm et al., 1998; Duff and Triska, 2000; Lansdown et al., 2016; Lansdown et al., 2014; Naranjo et al., 2015). This was reflected in the vertical profiles of mean porewater concentration values obtained with the multilevel minipiezometers, which indicated surface water high in nitrate and low in ammonium penetrating the subsurface. There was then a decrease in pore-water nitrate and increase in pore-water ammonium with depth (Fig. 4a and d). The DET gel data indicated a stream reach characterised by areas of oxygenated sediment, leading to a few points of high porewater nitrate concentration (Dahm et al., 1998; Duff and Triska, 2000; Holmes et al., 1994; Jones Jr. et al., 1995; Naranjo et al., 2015; Seitzinger, 1994), within a streambed similar to that described in Section 3.1.1 for the multilevel mini-piezometer data. This perhaps contributed to the lack of trend in mean pore-water nitrate and ammonium concentrations with depth in the DET gel samples, with little vertical variation in mean pore-water concentrations making it difficult to infer biogeochemical process information (Fig. 4c and f).

In contrast, the Minipoint data indicated a stream reach characterised by oxidising conditions, leading to high pore-water nitrate and low pore-water ammonium concentrations (Dahm et al., 1998; Duff and Triska, 2000). The mean pore-water concentration profiles obtained from the Minipoints indicated a decrease in pore-water nitrate coupled with an increase in pore-water ammonium with depth (Fig. 4b and e). This is likely due to surface water, which is high nitrate and low ammonium concentration here, entering the streambed, before a decrease in pore-water nitrate and increase in pore-water ammonium at greater depths resulting from the majority of biogeochemical processing occurring in the upper few centimetres of sandy or finegrained sediments (Battin et al., 2003b; Knapp et al., 2017; O'Connor and Harvey, 2008; Shelley et al., 2017), which are characteristic of the study site (Shelley et al., 2017).

The streambed characterisation was likely affected by differences in sampler set-up and principles. The window of detection and vertical resolution varied between sampling methods with multilevel minipiezometers sampling at greater depths and over a wider range (0.1 to 1 m) than the Minipoints (0.025 to 0.15 m) and the DET gels (0.035 to 0.135 m), while the Minipoint samplers had the highest vertical

resolution (25 mm) compared to the DET gels (50 mm) and the multilevel mini-piezometers (0.1 to 0.5 m, depending on depth). This resulted in the majority of the multilevel mini-piezometer data originating outside the top, biogeochemically reactive layer of the streambed, whereas all of the data from the Minipoints and DET gels were collected from within the top 0.15 m. Additionally, the higher vertical resolution of the Minipoint data, and to a lesser extent the DET gel data, allows small-scale pore-water concentration dynamics to be observed. These combined may explain why pore-water nitrate was lower and pore-water ammonium was higher in the multilevel minipiezometer samples, as these concentration dynamics are often also observed with increasing depth below the sediment surface where typically anoxia increases and is therefore, accompanied by an increase in denitrification and decrease in nitrification (Dahm et al., 1998; Duff and Triska, 2000). The difference in sampling resolution utilised in the top 0.15 m of the streambed enabled clearer trends in nutrient depth profiles to be determined in the Minipoint data than in the DET gel data.

As discussed in Section 3.3.1, the difference in sampler principles between Minipoints and DET gels, i.e. active versus passive sampling, likely also influenced the streambed characterisation, resulting in DET gels preferentially sampling different pore-waters to the Minipoints. This explains the higher pore-water ammonium concentrations and the lower pore-water nitrate concentrations in the top sampling depths observed in the DET gels than the Minipoints. The pattern may also be explained by increased surface water downwelling induced by sampling with the Minipoints at too high sampling volumes or rates relative to the natural flow, although here care was taken to avoid this scenario. Additionally, the variability in observed concentrations may be enhanced by the upwelling that was observed locally with the Minipoint samplers at three locations, whereas surface water was downwelling at all other locations.

The differences in behaviour between pore-water nitrate and ammonium profiles observed are expected due to the fundamental differences in biogeochemical processes that each nutrient experiences. Ammonium and nitrate are involved in many redox reactions but are predominantly affected by differing redox conditions in streambeds and will, therefore, be present at varying concentrations depending on oxygen availability (Bollmann and Conrad, 1998; Davidson, 1991; Heppell et al., 2013; Lansdown et al., 2012, 2015; Quick et al., 2016; Well et al., 2005). Furthermore, the sorption of ammonium to clay sediment produces additional controls on the availability and fate of ammonium (Duff and Triska, 2000), which does not directly affect nitrate.

#### 3.3.2. Laboratory experiment

The laboratory experiment allowed further investigation of the effect of active versus passive sampling on resulting ammonium concentrations that was observed in the in-situ data. The ammonium concentrations observed in the data from the DET gels were greater than those observed in the samples obtained from the co-located multilevel mini-piezometers in all three ammonium sediment concentrations used (Fig. 5), which has been observed previously (Ullah et al., 2012). We believe that the discrepancy between techniques, between 31 and 56% over the different depths in this experiment, is further evidence of the difference in sampling principles between active and passive samplers. DET gels equilibrated in ultrapure water resulted in ammonium concentrations below the limit of detection ( $0.02 \text{ mg N}^{-1}$ ) and confirmed that the high pore-water ammonium concentrations observed in the DET gels during the in-situ or laboratory experiments were not introduced from the DET gels themselves.

As mentioned in Section 2.2.1, the DET gel is a passive, diffusive equilibrium sampler (Byrne et al., 2015; Krause et al., 2011a; Ullah et al., 2012) sampling micropores, whereas, the multilevel minipiezometers are active samplers relying on a vacuum or pumping action to sample the 'free' pore-water that occupies macropores. The DET gels preferential sampling of micropores/matrix pores (Harvey, 1993; Harvey et al., 1995) can explain the large differences

in pore-water ammonium concentrations found between the two methodologies due to active and passive samplers sampling different pore-waters and therefore, different chemical signatures, as outlined in detail in Section 3.3.1.

The difference in pore-water ammonium concentrations observed between the data from the DET gels and the multilevel mini-piezometers was statistically significant (p-values <0.05) indicating that the principles of the sampling methodology (active versus passive) used can greatly influence the resulting concentration of ammonium. When designing an experiment, the researcher should, therefore, carefully consider whether they need to target macropores or micropores to address their research questions, or if they need to utilise a combination of both active and passive sampling methods. Furthermore, the methods discussed in this paper are all ex-situ in nature, i.e. samples are collected from the streambed and analysed in the laboratory. In-situ pore-water chemistry measurement methods are also available, and continue to be developed, these methods have the advantage of capturing the intended concentration dynamics without issues of contamination or concentration changes associated with transport, storage and laboratory analysis. These methods should, therefore, also be considered during experimental design.

#### 4. Conclusions

As interest in hyporheic biogeochemistry continues to increase, along with the volume of interdisciplinary research conducted in the HZ, the development of standard sampling protocols and further sampling methods is required. The three samplers (multilevel minipiezometers, Minipoint samplers and DET gels) discussed in this study mainly differ with respect to the absolute sampling depth they can reach, the achievable vertical spatial resolution and the pore sizes (and therefore mobile versus immobile water) samples are predominantly extracted from. Disturbances in subsurface flow may also vary between sampling techniques depending on sample volumes and sampling rates used for active sampling and the relatively large horizontal sampler footprint of the DET gel, which may affect nutrient profiles near the sediment-water interface where strong gradients are observed.

Although samplers such as Minipoints and DET gels provide highresolution nutrient profiles in the top few centimetres of the streambed, where the majority of biogeochemical cycling occurs, multilevel and single-depth piezometers remain a valuable tool for the investigation of deeper influences of groundwater and larger scale processes. The extent of hydrological information and the macropore versus matrix zones sampled also vary with technique, therefore, care needs to be taken when selecting a methodology. Furthermore, the sampling method used may significantly affect the resulting ammonium concentrations and may result in differing conclusions on reach-scale streambed characteristics (Table 5). The research question, and desired spatial and temporal resolution will, therefore, determine which sampling technique is most appropriate to use, with each one characterised by specific advantages and limitations (Table 1). Larger scale processes including groundwater zones of upwelling and downwelling, hydrological information and contaminant plume identification and investigation at greater depths are best investigated using multilevel or single depth minipiezometers, which allow chemical and hydrological information to be determined at the same point within macropores at greater depths. The ability to also sample at shallower depths allows processes within the shallow streambed to be investigated although at a coarser resolution than miniature drivepoint samplers. In-depth characterisation of hyporheic zone hydrology and biogeochemical processes in the top 0.4 m of the streambed are best investigated using miniature drivepoint samplers, which allow high-resolution investigation of chemical and hydrological information at the same

#### Table 5

Summary results of the in-situ field comparison of nitrate and ammonium pore-water concentrations obtained from multilevel mini-piezometers, Minipoint samplers and DET gels, as well as suggested applications for the respective pore-water sampling techniques.

Sampling methodology	Nitrate	Vertical nitrate profile	Ammonium	Vertical ammonium profile	Streambed redox conditions	Applications
Multilevel mini-piezometers	Low	Decrease with depth, although not very pronounced	High	Maxima at 0.2 m	Reduced	<ul> <li>Coarser investigation of exchange processes and biogeochemical activity within the wider streambed</li> <li>Determination of hydrological characteristics and reaction rates a wide range of depths (up to a few metres)</li> <li>Investigation of coarser resolution (50–100 mm) nutrient and contaminant dynamics throughout the streambed</li> <li>Detection and investigation of groundwater and associated contaminants</li> </ul>
USGS Minipoint Samplers	Low-high	Non-linear decrease with depth	Low with some high	Linear increase with depth	Oxidised	<ul> <li>Fine scale investigation of exchange processes and biogeochemical activity within the hyporheic zone</li> <li>Determination of hydrological characteristics and reaction rates within the top 0.4 m of the streambed</li> <li>Investigation of high resolution (10–30 mm) nutrient and contaminant dynamics in the top 0.4 m of the streambed</li> </ul>
DET gels	Low with some high	No obvious shape to the profile	Intermediate	No obvious shape to the profile	Reduced with oxic zones	<ul> <li>Fine scale investigation of biogeochemical processes within the hyporheic zone</li> <li>Investigation of very high resolution (1 mm–10 mm) nutrient and contaminant dynamics in the top 0.15 m of the streambed</li> </ul>

depth within macropores. Fine-scale investigations of concentration dynamics within the top 0.15 m of the streambed are best investigated using DET gels, which allow very high vertical resolution measurements of the sediment matrix of micropores, but no hydrological information to be obtained, although the passive nature of this technique means it may be difficult to capture some events.

The differences between pore-water sampling methodologies presented here provide guidance for future studies into pore-water nitrogen cycling, improving sampler selection based on specific research questions. This has global relevance for researchers focussing on important questions of chemical cycling within saturated sediments including the hyporheic zone, moving towards a more uniform sampling protocol and better understanding of how the selected methodology may bias results.

Future work is needed to develop sampling methodologies with focus on in-situ methodologies that measure nutrient concentrations without the need for sample extraction, therefore, reducing the likelihood of results being altered by the sampling technique. Ex-situ methodologies, such as those examined here, continue to be of importance and further development of these methods including high vertical resolution samplers robust enough to sample gravels and cobbles is encouraged.

#### **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare no conflicts of interest, either financial or personal, that may be perceived to influence this work.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was funded by The Leverhulme Trust project "Where rivers, groundwater and disciplines meet: A hyporheic research network" and from the authors' institutions. Additional funding was also provided from NERC through a Central England NERC Training Alliance Studentship, NERC standard grant NE/L004437/1, and the European Union's H2020-MSCA-RISE-2016 project 734317. Jay Zarnetske and Joseph Lee-Cullin were partially supported by the US NSF Award Number 1446328. The authors would like to thank the Leverhulme project team for their help, guidance and insight. The U.S. Geological Survey loaned the Minipoint samplers used in this study and provided guidance for their operation. Any use of trade, firm or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

#### References

- Argerich, A., Martí, E., Sabater, F., Ribot, M., 2011. Temporal variation of hydrological exchange and hyporheic biogeochemistry in a headwater stream during autumn. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 30 (3), 635–652.
- Battin, T.J., Kaplan, L.A., Newbold, J.D., Hansen, C.M.E., 2003a. Contributions of microbial biofilms to ecosystem processes in stream mesocosms. Nature 426 (6965), 439–442. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02152.
- Battin, T.J., Kaplan, L.A., Newbold, J.D., Hendricks, S.P., 2003b. A mixing model analysis of stream solute dynamics and the contribution of a hyporheic zone to ecosystemfunction. Freshw. Biol. 48, 995–1014. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2003.01062.x.
- Baxter, C., Hauer, F.R., Woessner, W.W, 2003. Measuring groundwater stream water exchange: new techniques for installing minipiezometers and estimating hydraulic conductivity. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 132, 493–502. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659 (2003)132<0493.</p>
- Bencala, K.E., 1993. A perspective on stream-catchment connections. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 12 (1), 44–47.
- Berg, P., McGlathery, K.J., 2000. A high-resolution pore water sampler for sandy sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46 (1), 203–210.
- Blaen, P.J., Khamis, K., Lloyd, C., Comer-Warner, S., Ciocca, F., Thomas, R.M., et al., 2017. High-frequency monitoring of catchment nutrient exports reveals highly variable storm event responses and dynamic source zone activation. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 122, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 2017JG003904.
- Blaen, P.J., Kurz, M.J., Drummond, J.D., Knapp, J.L.A., Mendoza-Lera, C., Schmadel, N.M., et al., 2018. Woody debris is related to reach-scale hotspots of lowland stream ecosystem respiration under baseflow conditions. Ecohydrology, e1952 https://doi.org/ 10.1002/eco.1952.
- Blume, T., Krause, S., Meinikmann, K., Lewandowski, J., 2013. Upscaling lacustrine groundwater discharge rates by fiber-optic distributed temperature sensing. Water Resour. Res. 49 (12), 7929–7944. https://doi.org/10.1002/2012WR013215.
- Boano, F., Harvey, J.W., Marion, A., Packman, A.I., Revelli, R., Ridolfi, L., Wörman, A., 2014. Hyporheic flow and transport processes: mechanisms, models, and bioghemical implications. Rev. Geophys., 52 https://doi.org/10.1002/2012RG000417.Received.
- Bollmann, A., Conrad, R., 1998. Influence of O2availability on NO and N2O release by nitrification and denitrification in soils. Glob. Chang. Biol. 4 (4), 387–396. https://doi.org/ 10.1046/j.1365-2486.1998.00161.x.
- Bou, C., Rouch, R., 1967. Un nouveau champ de recherches sur la faune aquatique souterraine. Cr Acad Sci 265, 369–370.
- Boulton, A.J., Findlay, S., Marmonier, P., Stanley, E.H., Valett, H.M., 1998. The functional significance of the hyporheic zone in streams and Rivers. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 29, 59–81. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.29.1.59.
- Briggs, M.A., Day-Lewis, F.D., Ong, J.B., Harvey, J.W., Lane, John, W., 2014. Dualdomainmass-transfer parameters from electrical hysteresis: theory and analytical approach applied to laboratory, synthetic streambed, and groundwater experiments. Water Resour. Res. 50, 8281–8299. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014WR015880 (Received).
- Briggs, M.A., Day-Lewis, F.D., Zarnetske, J.P., Harvey, J.W., 2015. A physical explanation for the development of redox microzones in hyporheic flow. Geophys. Res. Lett. 42 (11), 4402–4410. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015GL064200.
- Brunke, M., Gonser, T., 1997. The ecological significance of exchange processes between rivers and groundwater. Freshw. Biol. 37 (1), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.00143.x.
- Byrne, P., Zhang, H., Ullah, S., Binley, A., Heathwaite, A.L., Heppell, C.M., et al., 2015. Diffusive equilibrium in thin films provides evidence of suppression of hyporheic

exchange and large-scale nitrate transformation in a groundwater-fed river. Hydrol. Process. 29, 1385–1396. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.10269.

- Comer-Warner, S.A., Krause, S., Gooddy, D.C., Bennett, S.A., Wexler, S.K., Kaiser, J., 2017. Opening opportunities for high-resolution isotope analysis - quantification of  $\delta$ <sup>15</sup> N<sub>NO3</sub> and  $\delta$ <sup>18</sup> O<sub>NO3</sub> in diffusive equilibrium in thin–film passive samplers. Anal. Chem. 89 (7), 4139–4146. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.7b00028.
- Conant Jr., B., Cherry, J.A., Gillham, R.W., 2004. A PCE groundwater plume discharging to a river: influence of the streambed and near-river zone on contaminant distributions. J. Contam. Hydrol. 73, 249–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconhyd.2004.04.001.
- Dahm, C.N., Grimm, N.B., Marmonier, P., Valett, H.M., Vervier, P., 1998. Nutrient dynamics at the interface between surface waters and groundwaters. Freshw. Biol. 40, 427–451.
- Dahm, C.N., Maurice Valett, H., Baxter, C.V., Woessner, W.W., 2007. Hyporheic zones. In: Hauer, F.R., Lamberti, G.A. (Eds.), Methods in Stream Ecology. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, USA, pp. 119–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012332908-0.50008-5 Second.
- Datry, T., Lamouroux, N., Thivin, G., Descloux, S., Baudoin, J., 2015. Estimation of sediment hydraulic conductivity in river reaches and its potential use to evaluate streambed clogging. River Research and Applications River 31, 880–891. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/rra.
- Davidson, E.A., 1991. Fluxes of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide from terrestrial ecosystems. In: Rogers, J.E., Whitman, W.B. (Eds.), Microbial Production and Consumption of Greenhouse Gases: Methane, Nitrogen Oxides, and Halomethanes. American Society for Microbiology, Washington D.C, pp. 219–235.
- Davison, W., Zhang, H., 1994. In-situ speciation measurements of trace components in natural waters using thin-film gels. Nature 237, 546–548. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 367546a0.
- Davison, W., Grime, G.W., Morgan, J.A.W., Clarke, K., 1991. Distribution of dissolved iron in sediment pore waters at submillimetre resolution. Nature https://doi.org/10.1038/ 352323a0.
- Davison, W., Zhang, H., Grime, G.W., 1994. Performance characteristics of gel probes used for measuring the chemistry of pore waters. Environmental Science & Technology 28, 1623–1632.
- Davison, W., Fones, G., Harper, M., Teasdale, P., Zhang, H., 2000. Dialysis, DET and DGT: In situ diffusional techniques for studying water, sediments and soils. In: Buffle, J., Horvai, G. (Eds.), In Situ Monitoring of Aquatic Systems: Chemical Analysis and Speciation. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, England, pp. 495–569.
- Dočekalová, H., Clarisse, O., Salomon, S., Wartel, M., 2002. Use of constrained DET probe for a high-resolution determination of metals and anions distribution in the sediment pore water. Talanta 57, 145–155.
- Duff, J.H., Triska, F.J., 2000. Nitrogen biogeochemistry and surface-subsurface exchange in streams. In: Jones, J., Mulholland, P.J. (Eds.), Streams and Ground Waters, 2nd ed Elsevier Inc, San Diego, pp. 197–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-389845-6.50009-0.
- Duff, J.H., Murphy, F., Fuller, C.C., Triska, F.J., Harvey, J.W., Jackman, A.P., 1998. A mini drivepoint sampler for measuring pore water solute concentrations in the hyporheic zone of sand-bottom streams. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43 (6), 1378–1383.
- Duff, J.H., Tesoriero, A.J., Richardson, W.B., Strauss, E.A., Munn, M.D., 2008. Wholestream response to nitrate loading in three streams draining agricultural landscapes. Journal of Environment Quality 37 (3), 1133. https://doi.org/10.2134/ jeq2007.0187.
- Fischer, H., Kloep, F., Wilzcek, S., Pusch, M.T., 2005. A river's liver microbial processes within the hyporheic zone of a large lowland river. Biogeochemistry 76 (2), 349–371. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-005-6896-y.
- Gassen, N., Griebler, C., Werban, U., Trauth, N., Stumpp, C., 2017. High resolution monitoring above and below the groundwater table uncovers small-scale hydrochemical gradients. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51 (23), 13806–13815. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. est.7b03087.
- Geist, D.R., Joy, M.C., Lee, D.R., Gonser, T., 1998. A method for installing piezometers in large cobble bed rivers. Ground Water Monitoring & Remediation 18, 78–82.
- González-Pinzón, R., Ward, A.S., Hatch, C.E., Wlostowski, A.N., Singha, K., Gooseff, M.N., et al., 2015. A field comparison of multiple techniques to quantify groundwater – surface-water interactions. Freshwater Science 34 (1), 139–160. https://doi.org/ 10.1086/679738.
- Gooddy, D.C., Macdonald, D.M.J., Lapworth, D.J., Bennett, S.A., Griffiths, K.J., 2014. Nitrogen sources, transport and processing in peri-urban floodplains. Sci. Total Environ. 494–495, 28–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.06.123.
- Grimm, N.B., Baxter, C.V., Crenshaw, C.L., 2007. Surface-subsurface interactions in streams. In: Hauer, F.R., Lamberti, G.A. (Eds.), Methods in Stream Ecology. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, USA, pp. 761–782. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012332908-0.50046-2 Second Edi.
- Harper, M.P., Davison, W., Tych, W., 1997. Temporal, spatial, and resolution constraints for in situ sampling devices using diffusional equilibration: dialysis and DET. Environmental Science & Technology 31, 3110–3119.
- Harvey, J.W., 1993. Measurement of variation in soil solute tracer concentration across a range of effective pore sizes. Water Resour. Res. 29 (6), 1831–1837.
- Harvey, J.W., Fuller, C.C., 1998. Effect of enhanced manganese oxidation in the hyporheic zone on basin-scale geochemical mass balance. Water Resour. Res. 34 (4), 623. https://doi.org/10.1029/97WR03606.
- Harvey, J.W., Gooseff, M., 2015. River corridor science: hydrologic exchange and ecological consequences from bedforms to basins. Water Resour. Res. 51, 6893–6922. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015WR017617.Received.
- Harvey, C.F., Gorelick, S.M., 1995. Temporal moment-generating equations: modeling transport and mass transfer in heterogeneous aquifers. Water Resour. Res. 31 (8), 1895–1911. https://doi.org/10.1029/95WR01231.
- Harvey, J.W., Chambers, R.M., Hoelscher, J.R., 1995. Preferential flow and segregation of porewater solutes in wetland sediment. Estuaries 18 (4), 568–578.

- Harvey, J.W., Böhlke, J.K., Voytek, M.A., Scott, D., Tobias, C.R., 2013. Hyporheic zone denitrification: controls on effective reaction depth and contribution to whole-stream mass balance. Water Resour. Res. 49, 6298–6316. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wrcr.20492.
- Heppell, C., Heathwaite, A.L., Binley, A., Byrne, P., Ullah, S., Lansdown, K., et al., 2013. Interpreting spatial patterns in redox and coupled water-nitrogen fluxes in the streambed of a gaining river reach. Biogeochemistry 117 (2–3), 491–509. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10533-013-9895-4.
- Holmes, R.M., Fisher, S.G., Grimm, N.B., 1994. Parafluvial nitrogen dynamics in a desert stream ecosystem. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 13 (4), 468–478.
- Hunt, G.W., Stanley, E.H., 2000. An evaluation of alternative procedures using the Bou-Rouch method for sampling hyporheic invertebrates. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57 (8), 1545–1550. https://doi.org/10.1139/f00-081.
- Johnson, A., Llewellyn, N., Smith, J., Gast, C. Van Der, Lilley, A., Singer, A., Thompson, I., 2004. The role of microbial community composition and groundwater chemistry in determining isoproturon degradation potential in UK aquifers. 49, 71–82. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.femsec.2004.03.015.
- Jones Jr., J.B., Fisher, S.G., Grimm, N.B., 1995. Nitrification in the hyporheic zone of a desert stream ecosystem. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 14 (2), 249–258.
- Kalbus, E., Reinstorf, F., Schirmer, M., 2006. Measuring methods for groundwater surface water interactions: a review. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 10, 873–887. https://doi.org/ 10.5194/hess-10-873-2006.
- Käser, D.H., Binley, A., Heathwaite, A.L., Krause, S., 2009. Spatio-temporal variations of hyporheic flow in a riffle-step-pool sequence. Hypological Processes 23, 2138–2149 (doi:10.1002/hyp).
- Knapp, J.L.A., González-Pinzón, R., Drummond, J.D., Larsen, L.G., Cirpka, O.A., Harvey, J.W., 2017. Tracer-based characterization of hyporheic exchange and benthic biolayers in streams. Water Resour. Res. 53 (2), 1575–1594. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 2016WR019393.
- Krause, S., Heathwaite, A.L., Binley, A., Keenan, P., 2009. Nitrate concentration changes at the groundwater-surface water interface of a small Cumbrian river. Hydrological Processes. 23, pp. 2195–2211. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.
- Krause, S., Hannah, D.M., Fleckenstein, J.H., Heppell, C.M., Kaeser, D., Pickup, R., et al., 2011a. Inter-disciplinary perspectives on processes in the hyporheic zone. Ecohydrology 4, 481–499 (doi:10.1002/eco).
- Krause, S., Hannah, D., Blume, T., 2011b. Interstitial pore-water temperature dynamics across a pool-riffle-pool sequence. Ecohydrology 4 (4), 549–563 (doi:10.1002/eco).
- Krause, S., Tecklenburg, C., Munz, M., Naden, E., 2013. Streambed nitrogen cycling beyond the hyporheic zone: flow controls on horizontal patterns and depth distribution of nitrate and dissolved oxygen in the upwelling groundwater of a lowland river. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 118 (1), 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2012JG002122.
- Krause, Š., Boano, F., Cuthbert, M.O., Fleckenstein, J.H., Lewandowski, J., 2014. Understanding process dynamics at aquifer-surface water interfaces: an introduction to the special section on new modeling approaches and novel experimental technologies. Water Resour. Res. 50 (2), 1847–1855. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 2013WR014755.
- Krause, S., Lewandowski, J., Grimm, N.B., Hannah, D.M., Pinay, G., McDonald, K., et al., 2017. Ecohydrological interfaces as hot spots of ecosystem processes. Water Resour. Res. 53, 6359–6376. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016WR019516.
- Krom, M., Davison, P., Zhang, H., Davison, W., 1994. High-resolution pore-water sampling with a gel sampler. Limnol. Oceanogr. 39 (8), 1967–1972.
- Landon, M.K., Rus, D.L., Harvey, F.E., 2001. Comparison of instream methods for measuring hydraulic conductivity in sandy streambeds. Groundwater 39 (6), 870–885.
- Lansdown, K., Trimmer, M., Heppell, C.M., Sgouridis, F., Ullah, S., Heathwaite, A.L., et al., 2012. Characterization of the key pathways of dissimilatory nitrate reduction and their response to complex organic substrates in hyporheic sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 57 (2), 387–400. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2012.57.2.0387.
- Lansdown, K., Heppell, C.M., Dossena, M., Ullah, S., Heathwaite, A.L., Binley, A., et al., 2014. Fine-scale in situ measurement of riverbed nitrate production and consumption in an armored permeable riverbed. Environmental Science & Technology 48 (8), 4425–4434. https://doi.org/10.1021/es4056005.
- Lansdown, K., Heppell, C.M., Trimmer, M., Binley, A., Heathwaite, A.L., Byrne, P., Zhang, H., 2015. The interplay between transport and reaction rates as controls on nitrate attenuation in permeable, streambed sediments. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 120, 1093–1109. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JG002874.Received.
- Lansdown, K., McKew, B.A., Whitby, C., Heppell, C.M., Dumbrell, A.J., Binley, A., et al., 2016. Importance and controls of anaerobic ammonium oxidation influenced by riverbed geology. Nat. Geosci. 9, 357–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo2684.
- Lapworth, D.J., Gooddy, D.C., Allen, D., Old, G.H., 2009. Understanding groundwater, surface water, and hyporheic zone biogeochemical processes in a chalk catchment using fluorescence properties of dissolved and colloidal organic matter. J. Geophys. Res. 114, G00F02. https://doi.org/10.1029/2009JG000921.
- Lautz, L.K., Fanelli, R.M., 2008. Seasonal biogeochemical hotspots in the streambed around restoration structures. Biogeochemistry 91, 85–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-008-9235-2.
- Lee, D.R., Cherry, J.A., 1979. A field exercise on groundwater flow using seepage meters and mini- piezometers. J. Geol. Educ. 27 (1), 6–10.
- Lewandowski, J., Putschew, A., Schwesig, D., Neumann, C., Radke, M., 2011. Fate of organic micropollutants in the hyporheic zone of a eutrophic lowland stream: results of a preliminary field study. Sci. Total Environ. 409, 1824–1835. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2011.01.028.
- Lewandowski, J., Meinikmann, K., Nützmann, G., Rosenberry, D.O., 2015. Groundwater the disregarded component in lake water and nutrient budgets. Part 2: effects of groundwater on nutrients. Hydrol. Process. 29 (13), 2922–2955. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/hyp.10384.

- McClain, M.E., Boyer, E.W., Dent, C.L., Gergel, S.E., Grimm, N.B., Groffman, P.M., et al., 2003. Biogeochemical hot spots and hot moments at the Interface of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Ecosystems 6 (4), 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-003-0161-9.
- Metzger, E., Thibault de Chanvalon, A., Cesbron, F., Barbe, A., Launeau, P., Jézéquel, D., Mouret, A., 2016. Simultaneous nitrite/nitrate imagery at millimeter scale through the water-sediment interface. Environmental Science & Technology 50 (15), 8188–8195. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00187.
- Mortimer, R.J., Krom, M., Hall, P.O., Hulth, S., Ståhl, H., 1998. Use of gel probes for the determination of high resolution solute distributions in marine and estuarine pore waters. Mar. Chem. 63 (1–2), 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4203(98)00055-3.
- Mortimer, R.J.G., Krom, M.D., Harris, S.J., Hayes, P.J., Davies, I.M., Davison, W., Zhang, H., 2002. Evidence for suboxic nitrification in recent marine sediments. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 236, 31–35. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps236031.
- Mulholland, P.J., DeAngelis, D.L., 2000. Surface-subsurface exchange and nutrient spiraling. In: Jones, J.B., Mulholland, P.J. (Eds.), Streams and Ground Waters, 2nd ed Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 149–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-389845-6.50007-7.
- Naranjo, R.C., Niswonger, R.G., Davis, C.J., 2015. Mixing effects on nitrogen and oxygen concentrations and the relationship to mean residence time in a hyporheic zone of a riffle-pool sequence. Water Resour. Res. 51, 7202–7217. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 2014WR016593.Received.
- Ohio EPA, 2012. Technical Guidance Manual for Ground Water Investigations. Chapter 10: Ground Water Sampling. Retrieved from. http://www.epa.ohio.gov/Portals/28/documents/TGM-10\_final0512W.pdf.
- O'Connor, B.L., Harvey, J.W., 2008. Scaling hyporheic exchange and its influence on biogeochemical reactions in aquatic ecosystems. Water Resour. Res. 44 (12), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1029/2008WR007160.
- Palmer, M.A., Strayer, D.L., Rundle, S.D., 2007. Meiofauna. In: Hauer, F.R., Lamberti, G.A. (Eds.), Methods in Stream Ecology, Second Elsevier Inc, San Diego, USA, pp. 415–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-332908-0.50027-9.
- Pinay, G., Peiffer, S., De Dreuzy, J.R., Krause, S., Hannah, D.M., Fleckenstein, J.H., et al., 2015. Upscaling nitrogen removal capacity from local hotspots to low stream Orders' drainage basins. Ecosystems 18, 1101–1120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-015-9878-5.
- Pinay, G., Bernal, S., Åbbott, B.W., Lupon, A., Marti, E., Sabater, F., Krause, S., 2018. Riparian corridors: a new conceptual framework for assessing nitrogen buffering across biomes. Frontiers in Environmental Science 6, 47. https://doi.org/10.3389/ FENVS.2018.00047.
- Quick, A.M., Reeder, W.J., Farrell, T.B., Tonina, D., Feris, K.P., Benner, S.G., 2016. Controls on nitrous oxide emissions from the hyporheic zones of streams. Environmental Science & Technology (3) https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02680.
- Rivett, M., Ellis, P.A., Greswell, R.B., Ward, R., Roche, R., Cleverly, M., et al., 2008. Costeffective mini drive-point piezometers and multilevel samplers for monitoring the hyporheic zone. Q.J.Eng.Geol.Hydrogeol. 41 (1), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1144/ 1470-9236/07-012.
- Ruhala, S.S., Zarnetske, J.P., Long, D.T., Lee-Cullin, J.A., Plont, S., Wiewiora, E.R., 2018. Exploring dissolved organic carbon cycling at the stream-groundwater interface across a third-order, lowland stream network. Biogeochemistry 137, 105–126. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10533-017-0404-z.
- Sanders, I.A., Trimmer, M., 2006. In situ application of the 15NO3- isotope pairing technique to measure denitrification in sediments at the surface water-groundwater interface. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 4 (3), 142–152. https://doi.org/10.4319/ lom.2006.4.142.

- Scanlon, B.R., Healy, R.W., Cook, P.G., 2002. Choosing appropriate techniques for quantifying groundwater recharge. Hydrogeol. J. 10, 18–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10040-0010176-2.
- Seitzinger, S.P., 1994. Linkages between organic matter mineralization and denitrification in eight riparian wetlands. Biogeochemistry 25, 19–39.
- Shelley, F., Klaar, M., Krause, S., Trimmer, M., 2017. Enhanced hyporheic exchange flow around woody debris does not increase nitrate reduction in a sandy streambed. Biogeochemistry 136 (3), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-017-0401-2.
- Smith, V.H., Tilman, G.D., Nekola, J.C., 1999. Eutrophication: impacts of excess nutrient inputs on freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems. Environ. Pollut. 100, 179–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00091-3.
- Stelzer, R.S., Bartsch, L.A., Richardson, W.B., Strauss, E.A., 2011. The dark side of the hyporheic zone: depth profiles of nitrogen and its processing in stream sediments. Freshw. Biol. 56 (10), 2021–2033. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02632.x.
- Survey, B. G. (n.d.). British Geological Survey, 2016. BGS 1:50,000 [Shapefile Geospatial Data], Scale 1:50,000. Retrieved from. http://edina.ac.uk/digimap.
- Trimmer, M., Grey, J., Heppell, C.M., Hildrew, A.G., Lansdown, K., Stahl, H., Yvon-Durocher, G., 2012. River bed carbon and nitrogen cycling: state of play and some new directions. Sci. Total Environ. 434, 143–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2011.10.074.
- Uk Met Office, 2016. UK climate Historic station data [Online]. Available:, [Accessed 02/ 06/2016 2016]. http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/public/weather/climate-historic/.
- Ullah, S., Zhang, H., Heathwaite, A.L., Binley, A., Lansdown, K., Heppell, K., Trimmer, M., 2012. In situ measurement of redox sensitive solutes at high spatial resolution in a riverbed using diffusive equilibrium in thin films (DET). Ecol. Eng. 49, 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2012.08.003.
- Ullah, S., Zhang, H., Heathwaite, A.L., Heppell, C., Lansdown, K., Binley, A., Trimmer, M., 2014. Influence of emergent vegetation on nitrate cycling in sediments of a groundwater-fed river. Biogeochemistry 118 (1–3), 121–134. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10533-013-9909-2.
- Valett, H.M., Fisher, S.G., Grimm, N.B., Camill, P., 1994. Vertical hydrologic exchange and ecological stability of a desert stream ecosystem. Ecology 75 (2), 548–560.
- Ward, A.S., 2016. The evolution and state of interdisciplinary hyporheic research. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Water 3, 83–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1120.
- Ward, A.S., Gooseff, M.N., Johnson, P.A., 2011. How can subsurface modifications to hydraulic conductivity be designed as stream restoration structures? Analysis of Vaux's conceptual models to enhance hyporheic exchange. Water Resour. Res. 47, W08512. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010WR010028.
- Well, R., Weymann, D., Flessa, H., 2005. Recent research progress on the significance of aquatic systems for indirect agricultural N2O emissions. Environ. Sci. 2 (2–3), 143–151. https://doi.org/10.1080/15693430500393334.
- Winter, T.C., Harvey, J.W., Franke, O.L., Alley, W.M., 1998. In: Winter, T.C., Harvey, J.W., Franke, O.L., Alley, W.M. (Eds.), The hydrologic cycle and interactions of ground water and surface water. Ground Water and Surface Water: A Single Resource. U.S. Government Printing Office, Denver, USA, pp. 3–32 Retrieved from. http://pubs. usgs.gov/circ/circ1139/htdocs/natural\_processes\_of\_ground.htm.
- Wondzell, S.M., Swanson, F.J., 1996. Seasonal and storm dynamics of the Hyporheic zone of a 4th-Order Mountain stream. II: nitrogen cycling. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 15 (1), 20–34.